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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (including the section regarding Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations)
(the “Report”) contains forward-looking statements regarding our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Words such as “expects,”
“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar words and phrases are intended to identify forward-looking statements. However,
this is not an all-inclusive list of words or phrases that identify forward-looking statements in this Report. Also, all statements concerning future matters are
forward-looking statements.

Although forward-looking statements in this Report reflect the good faith judgment of our management, such statements can only be based on facts and
circumstances currently known by us. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results and outcomes may differ
materially from the results and outcomes discussed in or anticipated by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such
differences in results and outcomes include, without limitation, those discussed elsewhere in this Report.

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and those reports are available free of charge on our Web site (www.xgtechnology.com)
under “Investor Relations/SEC Filings.” The reports available include our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, which are available as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with or furnish
them to the SEC. You can also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC
20549. You can obtain additional information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also
maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically
with the SEC, including us.

We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of this Report.
We urge you to carefully review and consider all of the disclosures made in this Report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

xG Technology, Inc. (“xG Technology”, “xG”, the “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us”) has developed a broad portfolio of innovative intellectual property that we
believe will enhance wireless communications. Our intellectual property is embedded in proprietary software algorithms that offer cognitive interference
mitigation and spectrum access solutions.

Our Company was founded on the premise that the wireless communications industry is facing a spectrum crisis as demand for flexible, affordable voice and
data access rapidly grows. We have developed frequency-agnostic cognitive radio solutions to address this increasing demand by eliminating the need to acquire
scarce and expensive licensed radio spectrum and thus ideally lowering the total cost of ownership for wireless broadband access. With such fast growing
demand straining network capacity, our intellectual property is also designed to help wireless broadband network operators make more efficient use of existing
spectrum allocations. We are targeting numerous industries world-wide, such as telecommunications, cable, defense, and public safety, municipal governments,
critical infrastructure and markets ranging from rural to urban areas and expeditionary deployments.

The implementation of our cognitive radio intellectual property is xMax®. We believe the xMax® system, represents the only commercially available cognitive
radio network system that is designed to include interference mitigation by using our patented spatial processing. xMax® implements our proprietary
interference mitigation software that can increase capacity on already crowded airwaves by improving interference tolerance, enabling the delivery of a
comparatively high Quality of Service where other technologies would not be able to cope with the interference. We believe that the xMax® system will also,
when in a future development operating on more than one radio channel, deliver dynamic spectrum access by using our patented self-organizing network
techniques.

Our system is frequency agnostic, although currently designed to operate within the 902 – 928 MHz unlicensed band. xMax® serves as a mobile voice over
internet protocol (“VoIP”) and broadband data system that utilizes an end-to-end Internet Protocol (“IP”) system architecture. The xMax® product and service
suite includes a line of access points, fixed and mobile personal hotspots, mobile switching centers, network management systems, deployment tools, and
customer support. The xMax® system will allow mobile operators to utilize free, unlicensed 902 – 928 MHz ISM band spectrum (which spectrum is available
in all of the Americas except French Guiana) instead of purchasing scarce, expensive licensed spectrum. Our xMax® system will also enable enterprises to set
up a mobile communications network in an expeditious and cost-effective manner.

In addition, we believe that our xMax® cognitive radio technology can also be used to provide additional capacity to licensed spectrum by identifying and
utilizing unused bandwidth within the licensed spectrum.
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Below is a diagram that provides a high-level overview of the xMax® network architecture:

Our Strategy

We are developing a broad portfolio of innovative intellectual property that we believe will enhance wireless communications. Leveraging elements of our
intellectual property portfolio, we plan to introduce a range of spectrum agnostic, cognitive radio solutions that span numerous industries and applications. We
believe that these products, together with our ability to leverage our patent portfolio, present us with an attractive revenue model. Our strategy is initially to
commercialize our intellectual property portfolio by developing and selling network equipment using our proprietary software algorithms to offer cognitive
interference mitigation and spectrum access solutions. In the future, our strategy is for our intellectual property to be embedded by partners in a semiconductor
chip that could be sold to third party equipment manufacturers and inserted in their devices and to license our intellectual property to other customers in vertical
markets world-wide.

Market Overview

Our Market

We are witnessing rapidly increasing demand in the marketplace for mobile bandwidth. The surge in demand is attributable to the proliferation of smartphones,
tablet PCs and other broadband-centric devices, as well as the shift to data and video-intensive services. A Cisco report (the Cisco Visual Networking Index,
February 2014) indicates that in 2013 53% of the data traffic on mobile networks was video, and they forecast video traffic to account for over 70% of total
mobile data traffic by 2016.

There has also been an increase in mobile voice demand as more people unplug their wired phones and rely on wireless devices for all of their calling needs.
According to Cisco’s report, as well as several studies undertaken by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”), the demand for wireless services will
continue to grow in the coming years, as shown in the chart below. Cisco predicts mobile data traffic will increase 11-fold between 2013 and 2018, a 61%
CAGR, reaching 15.9 Exabytes per month.
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Source: Cisco VNI Mobile 2014

In early 2009, Congress directed the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) to develop a National Broadband Plan to ensure every American has “access
to broadband capability.” After conducting thirty-six public workshops and engaging in significant collaboration and conversations with other government
agencies and Congress, the FCC released the National Broadband Plan in early 2010. Within the Plan the FCC acknowledges that “the current spectrum policy
framework sometimes impedes the free flow of spectrum to its most highly valued uses.” The Plan states that “Wireless broadband is poised to become a key
platform for innovation in the U.S. over the next decade. As a result, U.S. spectrum policy requires reform to accommodate the new ways that industry is
delivering wireless services. These reforms include making more spectrum available on a flexible basis, including for unlicensed and opportunistic uses.”

Specific recommendations within the report that indicate a favorable regulatory environment for cognitive radio technology include: “Recommendation 5.13:
The FCC should spur further development and deployment of opportunistic uses across more radio spectrum.” The Plan further states that, “the FCC and NTIA
should take steps to expand the environment in which new, opportunistic technologies can be developed and improved. And “The FCC should allow
opportunistic radios to operate on spectrum currently held by the FCC (such as in certain license areas where spectrum was not successfully auctioned).”

On March 27, 2012 the U.S. Department of Commerce, through the NTIA, released a report in which they announced, “In the past, the federal government has
freed up spectrum for exclusive commercial use by clearing a spectrum band of federal users, who typically relocated to other bands. However, given the
growing demand for spectrum by both industry and the federal agencies, it is increasingly difficult to find desirable spectrum that can be vacated by federal
users as well as spectrum in which to relocate these federal users. Due to the scarcity of spectrum, the complexity of federal operations, and the time and cost of
relocating federal users, the old approach alone is no longer feasible.”

The report further states “NTIA proposes a new path forward for spectrum repurposing that relies on a combination of relocating federal users and sharing
spectrum between federal agencies and commercial users. Spectrum sharing will be a vital component to satisfying the growing demand for spectrum, and
federal and non-federal users will need to adopt innovative spectrum-sharing techniques to accommodate this demand.”
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In July 2012, The President’s Council of Advisors on Science and Technology (PCAST) issued a report to the US President titled “Realizing the Full Potential
of Government-Held Spectrum to Spur Economic Growth” in which “It concludes that the traditional practice of clearing government-held spectrum of Federal
users and auctioning it for commercial use is not sustainable. In light of changes made possible by modern technology, we recommend that you issue a new
Memorandum that states it is the policy of the U.S. government to share underutilized spectrum to the maximum extent consistent with the Federal mission, and
requires the Secretary of Commerce to identify 1,000 MHz of Federal spectrum in which to implement shared-use spectrum pilot projects.” The report noted
that simply clearing and reallocating spectrum would not be sustainable and pointed to a recent study by the National Telecommunications and Information
Administration (NTIA) which found that clearing of just one 95 MHz band will take 10 years, cost $18 billion, and cause significant disruption. Among its key
recommendations are to adopt new technologies, including cognitive radios, that could help use existing spectrum more efficiently, stating that “the use of new
radio technologies, including cognitive radios, will be an important tool in helping increase spectrum capacity and utilization”. The PCAST authors stated that
agile (cognitive) radio technologies that make it possible for computerized radio systems to share spectrum on a vastly more efficient basis would make it
possible to move from an era of scarcity to one of abundance.

Moreover, on July 6, 2012 a Presidential Executive Order was issued regarding the Assignment of National Security and Emergency Preparedness
Communications Functions. The order establishes that the federal government must be able to communicate with the public, other agencies, other levels of
government and businesses “at all times and circumstances” and in all locations, both domestically and internationally. To ensure this, the order mandates the
establishment of emergency communications capabilities that are “survivable, resilient, enduring and effective”. These capabilities are not available in
traditional public system networks, but the xMax® cognitive radio system has been designed from the ground up to meet the very survivability, redundancy,
mobility, interoperability, and resiliency requirements specified by this Order.

Recognizing the spectrum constraints on fast growing needs for wireless connectivity, in September 2012 the European Commission published a
communication promoting the shared use of radio spectrum resources. A study conducted for the European Commission showed that finding additional shared
spectrum resources for wireless broadband could create significant net economic benefits for the European Union. With an increase of between 200 to 400 MHz
in shared access spectrum for wireless broadband, the scenarios evaluated in the study showed a net increase in the value to the European economy of the order
of several hundred billion Euros by 2020. The Commission, therefore, proposed steps to foster the development of wireless innovations in the EU to ensure that
the currently allocated spectrum is exploited to the fullest extent possible. This has been followed by Ofcom, the telecommunications regulator in the UK,
moving to complete the process to release TV Whites Spaces for shared use.

While it appears to management that spectrum regulation is developing in a favorable manner, we have, nonetheless, chosen to release the initial xMax®
product line on the unlicensed 900 MHz ISM band (902 – 928 MHz) in order to minimize our exposure to regulatory risk (see further under the section entitled
“Government Regulations, Regulators’ Role in spectrum”). The unlicensed bands are well established and although these bands are allocated for Industrial
Scientific and Medical (ISM) use (e.g., microwave ovens and industrial equipment), a major use has been unlicensed (Part 15) systems such as Wi-Fi,
Bluetooth, and ZigBee. In the period 1995 – 2005, most of the cordless phones marketed in the US were in the 902 – 928 MHz band, but conflicts with the other
uses and availability of DECT equipment has greatly decreased sales of 902 – 928 MHz cordless phones.
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The rules for these bands sprung from FCC Docket 81-413 which sought to end an implicit prohibition of spread spectrum/CDMA technology that resulted from
a focus on FDMA spectrum uses. This resulted in rules adopted in 1985 that allow unlicensed spread spectrum systems to use these bands for almost any
possible application subject to a 1W power limit. When wireless LAN use became of interest several years later, these time-tested rules allowed U.S. market
access without FCC deliberations. The 2.4 and 5.8 GHz bands are used for Wi-Fi today. In a similar fashion, we are launching our initial software-defined
product offering programmed to operate on unlicensed spectrum in order to speed commercialization of our intellectual property without requiring FCC or
NTIA deliberations on opportunistic access. Because we have designed our core technology to be usable beyond the unlicensed band that its initial product
offering operates on, we believes that we are well positioned to benefit from possible future regulatory reforms that support wider spread use of spectrum
sharing and opportunistic access techniques.

The growth of wireless data over the past few years has made the subject of available spectrum a pressing priority. In fact, the current situation has been referred
to as a “looming spectrum crisis”. (FCC Chairman Julius Genachowski, speech to CTIA, October 2009). Responses to this “crisis” have included lobbying
efforts to persuade the FCC to find new sources of licensed spectrum and proposals to reallocate existing licensed spectrum. Demand for more spectrum and
capacity has also been a key factor in industry consolidation. The rationale given for the AT&T/Cingular merger was based on the fact that AT&T had more
spectrum than Cingular, and by combining the companies they could more efficiently serve their customers. Likewise, Verizon’s $3.6 billion bidding to buy
unused wireless spectrum and AT&T’S $39 billion attempt to acquire T-Mobile was primarily driven by AT&T’s desire to secure additional spectrum and cell
sites in order to provide more capacity across its network. Most recently, the FCC’s AWS-3 spectrum auction, which began on Nov. 13, 2014, had generated
over $45 billion in bids through Jan. 5, 2015. This was another indication of the ongoing need for wireless carriers to increase network capacity and coverage by
securing additional spectrum assets.

Our company and our technology and products are based on our belief that there is insufficient spectrum available to satisfy the current and future growth of
wireless data. However, we also believe that this crisis is not solely a result of insufficient amounts of available spectrum, but also the result of inefficient use of
the currently available spectrum. Rather than merely demanding more spectrum we believe that the more appropriate response to the call for increased
bandwidth would be to shift the focus to getting more use out of spectrum that has already been allocated. More effective utilization of the available spectrum
can be accomplished in a number of different ways. Advancements in radio technology, such as the movement to the LTE standard from the previous 3G
networks, for example, have allowed for better spectrum utilization. This has been attributed to the incorporation of new advanced technologies such as multiple
in, multiple out (“MIMO”) and Orthogonal Frequency-Division Multiple to reduce multiuser interference.

Other methods being employed by network operators to meet bandwidth requirements have included off-loading some of the demand to unlicensed Wi-Fi
hotspots and selling in-building femtocells that make use of a customer’s own wired Internet connection. Another approach is to build more cell sites closer
together. Each cell site would cover a smaller area, and thus offer the ability to reuse frequencies more times in a larger geographic coverage area. However,
such would entail more costs, and is time consuming due to local permitting and other considerations. Many of these approaches have been driven by the need
to receive more capacity out of limited spectrum.

While the spectrum currently available cannot satisfy the future growth of wireless data, the idea of getting better use out of spectrum (both licensed and
unlicensed) by sharing it is receiving increased attention as a more effective and efficient solution for the industry than simply identifying new spectrum. This
has led to industry and policy makers to consider technology-based approaches, such as cognitive radio and opportunistic (i.e. shared) spectrum use.

Users of commercial cellular networks are not the only users that are running out of capacity due to spectrum limitations. Wireless users around the globe such
as industrial and enterprise users, public safety agencies and those who use unlicensed spectrum (such as Wi-Fi and White Spaces) are also lacking necessary
spectrum, but are not being allocated the necessary spectrum due to the fact that regulators have historically prioritized commercial mobile carriers in the
allocation of spectrum assets as the demand for both voice and broadband access continues to increase.
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We believe that deployment of cognitive radio networks offers the best solution to addressing the pressing need for more efficient use of spectrum.

Radio Spectrum — A Primer

Radio spectrum is a finite resource. In order to utilize this limited radio spectrum better, we have essentially been limited to reallocating swaths held by existing
users, who either have to lose some of their spectrum or have to move to other portions of the band.

The best spectrum for two-way radio or cellular types of communications is in lower frequencies. These frequencies are scarce due to technical, historical, and
regulatory reasons. A large part of the spectrum (30MHz to 900MHz) that is well suited for cellular and land mobile radio (LMR) is occupied by existing
business, industrial, public safety, and other license holders. Additionally, only a fraction of this spectrum is practical for mobile commercial consumption as the
usage of lower frequencies requires antennas, filters and other components that do not fit into a portable handheld device. There are also many services that have
long used valuable spectrum in frequencies that could be reassigned for mobile data and voice since those services could use some other spectrum efficiently.

The availability of widespread high-speed wireless broadband has led to customer uptake that was far greater than the network operators, device manufacturers,
and application developers had predicted. The introduction of the iPhone by Apple was a starting point for soaring broadband wireless service demand, and
since that time, new applications, including streaming video for TV and movie services, have proliferated. Network operators are struggling with how to keep
up with this demand.

In its 2014 Mobile Data Traffic Forecast Update, Cisco reported that mobile data traffic in 2013 was nearly 18 times the size of the entire global Internet in
2000. Furthermore, today more than 50% of the data traffic on mobile networks is video. This trend is expected to accelerate as network operators expand
deployments of 4G (fourth-generation cellular services). However, 4G does not fully address the current spectrum issues, and in fact may make it worse, as new
bandwidth and spectrum-intensive services are brought to market.

Cognitive Radio Networks — A Primer

The industry definition of a cognitive radio is a device that, unlike a traditional radio, can dynamically find and use available frequency to improve throughput
and connectivity. This can be done via real-time sensing that allows the radio to scan for unused frequencies and then instantly tune to such frequencies.
Cognitive radios can also rely on a database that can tell it what channels are available (usually based on the radio’s location and known spectrum restrictions in
that area).

Either or both of these techniques can be used to help the cognitive radio avoid interference and optimize its throughput and connection reliability on a dynamic
basis. With detailed information about its local radio frequency (‘‘RF’’) environment, cognitive radios are able to change power output, frequency and receive
or transmit parameters, in order to extract latent (unused) bandwidth and capacity from crowded unlicensed, as well as underutilized licensed, wireless
spectrum.

The key elements of cognitive radio technology include spectrum sensing, spectrum management, spectrum mobility, spectrum sharing, and spatial processing:
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Spectrum sensing may be defined as interference-based detection of transmitters with the ability to look at a portion of the spectrum to see if it contains any
transmitters that could cause interference to the cognitive radio system. Making the end user devices and network infrastructure cognitive enables both to
dynamically react to a wide range of conditions. In the xMax® system, the end user radio is used to inform the network of changes in the RF environment, core
infrastructure and other relevant conditions. This allows the network itself, and not just the radios, to adapt dynamically. When only the radio itself is cognitive,
each radio will individually optimize its parameters and throughput based on local conditions, without regard to overall system performance. What may be
optimal for the radios on an individual basis may not lead to overall network optimization in terms of coverage, throughput or other measures.

Spectrum management is the ability of the system to capture the best available spectrum for use at any given point in time. It is based on the premise that both
terminals and base stations can be directed to change their operating frequencies dynamically as needed to keep the communications from interfering with others
in that portion of the spectrum, or of being interfered with by others in the same spectrum. By propagating and collecting data from individual radios across the
network, a cognitive system approach can make the entire network smarter, and optimize total network throughput. This enables new and useful features such as
self-RF planning that can simplify, and reduce the cost of, the deployment and operation of the network. After the RF data is collected, better utilization and
performance can be achieved automatically and continuously. This makes the network vastly more adaptable, self-sustaining and self-optimizing in many ways.
The ability for the network to provide a level of self-RF planning is only one example of what a cognitive network can offer. Because a cognitive radio network
can self-optimize and self-configure, little-to-no frequency coordination between cognitive radio nodes or other radio networks operating in the same
frequencies is needed. This leads to an often overlooked benefit of having a self-planning, self-optimizing network: it reduces or eliminates the need for skilled
radio technicians. These cognitive radio networks use software, powerful on-board computing power and real-time RF sensing to supplant expensive and
overburdened radio technicians. The smart network goes beyond self-frequency planning to also encompass dynamic capacity shifting. That is to say that when
a cell is lightly loaded, it can automatically abandon one or more channels in any given sector, thus making those channels available for adjacent cells to use if
loading at that cell justifies the need for more spectrum. In addition to the ability to shift spectrum resources around to other cells, it also makes the network as a
whole a good neighbor to other systems that might be trying to use the same spectrum in a shared band (like TV White Spaces) by using the minimum amount
of spectrum at any given time. Moreover, these capabilities will allow xMax® networks themselves to become mobile, adapting to new spectrum conditions and
terrain “on-the-go”, which will make xMax® an excellent solution for expeditionary deployments by defense, public safety and emergency agencies.

Spectrum mobility refers to the ability to make use of spectrum dynamically, commonly called dynamic spectrum access (DSA). The system can decide to
change bands or channels within the spectrum in which they are operating.

Spectrum sharing is the ability for a cognitive radio system to operate in shared spectrum (unlicensed spectrum, for example), detect stations that interfere with
the transmissions, mitigate that interference if possible, or avoid it by changing operating frequencies or other system parameters. By enabling xMax® to
tolerate high levels of interference before requiring the radios to switch channels, more “gray spectrum” (containing interference or jamming) can be used in
place of white spectrum (clean and interference-free). This makes these white spectrum channels available for other radios that cannot mitigate the interference
on their current channel. The overall capability increases the network’s total throughput and capacity greatly — without consuming additional scarce spectrum
resources.
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Spatial processing is the use of multiple integrated receiver chains known as MIMO systems that can provide another layer of resistance to interferers. MIMO
processing allows better use of the radio channel to improve link budget and data rates. By employing advanced signal processing techniques, we believe that
our system can also be used to track and mitigate interference from multiple mobile transmitters using sophisticated signal processing algorithms. The ability to
mitigate, rather than simply run away from interference will be critical going forward. We believe that there will be no more “white spaces” and that all
spectrum will be made up of “gray spaces” (interference laden frequencies) caused by a system’s own self-interface or that which is caused by other nearby
systems.

We believe that a true cognitive or intelligent radio network will make use of most, if not all, of these capabilities in order to be able dynamically to keep the
system operating by mitigating or avoiding interference that may show up in the frequencies the cognitive network is currently using. If the interference
becomes too severe, an intelligent system will be able to locate other spectrum and shift the radio links to new frequencies nearly instantaneously. Using
cognitive radio techniques, the cognitive network can intelligently share spectrum and extract more bandwidth via “opportunistic use” of shared spectrum
resources.

Today’s cognitive radio systems are taking advantage of new antenna technology (such as MIMO) and digital signal processors (DSPs) with advanced,
innovative software algorithms. This evolution has also yielded a class of DSPs that are incredibly powerful, yet still energy-efficient. These and other
technologies are enabling a new generation of smart (i.e., cognitive) radios. In general, the limiting factor in high capacity wireless systems is interference. As
stated above, there are a number of ways to deal with interference to keep the communications link up and running. Unlike traditional systems (such as 3G and
4G), cognitive systems can recognize and then deal with interference locally and in real-time, thus greatly increasing the capacity of new and existing spectrum.

Products

xMax® :  The first implementation of xG’s innovative cognitive radio intellectual property is xMax®. Operating initially within the 902 – 928 MHz license-
free band, xMax® is a mobile voice over internet protocol (“VoIP”) and broadband data system that utilizes an end-to-end Internet Protocol (“IP”) system
architecture. The xMax® technology we are developing is spectrum agnostic. In any spectrum band that xMax® will operate in, we will break the band into
channels and sub channels. We will then use spatial processing and adaptive modulation to mitigate interference in that band. If the band becomes unusable
because of overwhelming interference, we will then use dynamic spectrum access to change to another channel or band. The xMax® product suite we are
currently developing is band specific due to the current limitations in RF technology that can be produced for a given size, cost and complexity. Multiband,
small, portable devices today require custom developed integrated circuits, which are on our technology roadmap, but not currently available. The mid-term
objective is to transition implementation of xMax® to a licensing and semiconductor chip business model.

The xMax® system design represents a turnkey network solution that will include rapid-deploy self-organizing access points (base stations), fixed and mobile
personal Wi-Fi hotspots, mobile switching centers, as well as network management and deployment tools. A key feature of the xMax® system is the ability to
leverage off-the-shelf commercial mobile devices (such as smartphones, laptops and tablets), resulting in reduced network infrastructure, maintenance and
operational costs. The xMax® system will allow mobile operators to utilize free, unlicensed 902 – 928 MHz ISM band spectrum (available in most of the
Americas) instead of having to purchase scarce licensed spectrum which can be prohibitively expensive. In addition, mobile network operators will be able to
use xMax® cognitive radio technology to add additional capacity to licensed spectrum by identifying and utilizing unused bandwidth in those frequencies.
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Our xMax® system is designed to utilize an advanced cognitive radio technology that incorporates OFDM and MIMO to increase interference tolerance, allow
mobility, and improve resistance to fading. All xMax® products leverage an array of high-performance, low-cost digital signal processors (DSPs) that enable
multidimensional signal processing that mitigates interference and dynamically optimizes available spectrum. xMax’s software defined radios (SDR) are
designed to be inherently frequency-agile, which will allow network access points and user devices to automatically retune and operate on clearer channels
within the band. This innovative signal processing will enable xMax® to deliver a licensed spectrum experience using unlicensed spectrum.

The product portfolio that we are creating by combining advanced computer processing power and novel wireless design means that a technology solution is
becoming a viable alternative to past public and private spectrum acquisition policies. We employ a multifaceted cognitive radio approach that combines
sophisticated interference mitigation capabilities with innovative dynamic spectrum access attributes. The former features MIMO smart antenna technologies.
Employed in concert, these capabilities will help squeeze additional usable spectrum out of airwaves once considered unusable for advanced mobile
communications.

CN5100 Mobile Hotspot (formerly known as xMod):

The xMax® CN5100 Mobile Hotspot is a device that allows users of Wi-Fi-enabled smartphones, tablets, notebooks and other devices to access the Internet
through the xMax® cognitive radio network. The CN5100 Mobile Hotspot acts as a transparent protocol bridge that connects end user devices to the wide-area
xMax® network using secure Wi-Fi links, USB or Ethernet cables. It supports not only fixed users but will also supports mobile users and has been designed to
provide exceptional QoS (Quality of Service) and MoS (Mean Opinion Score) while supporting calls, texting (SMS) and broadband data streams over the
xMax® network.

The CN5100 Mobile Hotspot includes a Wi-Fi router chip that allows it to simultaneously support multiple external devices wirelessly. It will enable operators
to deploy long-range xMax® networks that can integrate with the large installed base of Wi-Fi and Ethernet-capable devices. Subscribers will easily be able to
install and set up a CN5100 Mobile Hotspot to support any device having a Wi-Fi, USB or Ethernet connection. By incorporating xMax® radios and 2x4
MIMO technology, CN5100 Mobile Hotspots can provide range and reliability that management believes is superior to Wi-Fi-based wide-area systems.
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The CN5100 Mobile Hotspot and xMax® system is designed to support nomadic and mobile connectivity (including high-speed handoffs) which will allow
xMax® operators to offer on-the-go services that differ from those of fixed services, such as cable and DSL. It will be possible to deploy xMax® in fixed,
mobile or nomadic configurations. As with all the components in the xMax® family of products, the CN5100 Mobile Hotspot is designed to offer increased
range, flexibility, throughput and reliability, while reducing network deployment and management costs. Management believes this will make xMax® an
attractive solution for WISPs, mobile telecommunications operators and other service providers.

CN3100 Vehicle Modem (formerly known as xVM):

The xMax® CN3100 Vehicle Modem is an IP67-rated ruggedized subscriber device that is designed to be installed inside or outside vehicles. The CN3100
Vehicle Modem acts as a transparent protocol bridge, allowing users of WiFi-enabled smartphones, tablets, notebooks and other devices to seamlessly access
the Internet through the xMax cognitive radio network.

The CN3100 Vehicle Modem is waterproof and made to withstand wide temperature ranges and challenging environmental conditions. It has been designed to
meet the extreme demands characteristic of expeditionary environments, making it ideally suited for employment in the public safety, homeland security, and
military market places.

While primarily developed for vehicle usage, the CN3100 Vehicle Modem may also be externally mounted in fixed locations like parks or other outdoor areas
to provide WiFi access for use in monitoring, surveillance, machine-to-machine and other applications using the xMax backhaul link.
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CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem:

Introduced in 2014, the xMax® CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem is a single compact unit that operates in both the 900 MHz and 2.4 GHz frequency bands.
The CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem utilizes interprotocol smart-routing algorithms to automatically determine which frequency to use based on the user’s
application. Voice calls are prioritized to the 900 MHz band while video and data are prioritized to the 2.4 GHz band. The experience to the user is seamless,
providing simultaneous high speed data communications and calling without latency or echo.

CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem is designed for use in both fixed and mobile applications. In logistics, military, or public service applications, the 2.4 GHz
link can assist in loading and unloading high volumes of data from the application server to a stationary vehicle and then transparently switch over to 900 MHz
once it goes mobile. The CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem automatically switches all data and voice traffic to the 900 MHz radio to keep the connection
alive. When the vehicle becomes stationary again, the CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem resumes dual band operation.

The CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem has been designed with built-in redundancy with automatic failover. If the 2.4 GHz band becomes congested, slow, or
filled with interference, the CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem automatically routes all voice and data communications over the 900 MHz band to preserve
communications.

The CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem has been engineered to support the delivery of both fixed location high data rates and reliable high-speed mobility in
the same system. It is management’s belief that it will provide a cost-effective way for rural telecommunications operators to deliver high quality voice, high
speed data, and streaming video to their rural and remote customers. We believe the CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem will help these operators recover the
cost of the network via the Universal Service Fund (“USF”) subsidy mechanism. Recent regulatory reform has begun to transition USF support from telephone
to broadband services. Because xMax® can carry both voice and data, we believe that xMax® is well suited for rural carriers to handle such a migration.

In addition, it is expected that the CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem will allow these providers to create entirely new sources of unregulated revenue, for
example, providing voice and data services to local emergency response teams.

CN1100 Access Point (formerly known as xAP):

The xMax® CN1100 Access Point is an all-IP wireless access point that will deliver wide area coverage and reliability even when there is significant
interference. The CN1100 Access Point brings together innovative technologies including Software Defined Radio (SDR), cognitive networking and a 2x4
MIMO in a compact and affordable broadband access point. These capabilities will enable the CN1100 Access Point to deliver wide area coverage and
broadband throughput for fixed, nomadic and mobile applications.
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xMax® radios and 2x4 MIMO technologies give the CN1100 Access Point range and reliability surpassing Wi-Fi-based systems. The CN1100 Access Point (as
well as all xMax® components) will support nomadic and fully mobile connectivity, including high-speed handoff that will allow xMax® operators to offer on-
the-go services that differ from those of fixed services, such as cable and DSL. As part of the xMax® family of products, the CN1100 Access Point is designed
to offer increased coverage, throughput and robustness while reducing network deployment and management costs, making it, we believe, an attractive solution
for WISPs, mobile telecommunications operators and other service providers. When implemented, Self-Organizing Networking (SON) technology will simplify
and speed deployment for commercial, private and tactical networks.

The CN1100 Access Point is a small, single channel device that will provide voice, data and video over ranges of 1 to 5 miles (non-line-of-sight) and up to 15
miles (line-of-sight), depending on environmental and installation conditions. The xMax® system is designed so that it will be possible to collocate multiple
CN1100 Access Points in order to increase system capacity. CN1100 Access Points are GPS time-synchronized to avoid self-interference, which increases
overall system capacity and load leveling. These features, along with deterministic Media Access Control (MAC) for high-quality voice calls, give the xMax®
system improved scalability in real-world conditions.

Having numerous accessible channels will allow neighboring network nodes (made up of one or more CN1100 Access Points to utilize non-interfering channels
automatically when employing the network self-planning features that are in our technology roadmap. This will allow the network to grow and scale more easily
without the operator having to redesign the network RF plan each time a device moves, or when CN1100 Access Points or users are added or removed from the
network.

CN7000 Mobile Control Center (formerly known as xMSC):

The xMax® CN7000 Mobile Control Center is the backbone network element in the xMax® regional network. The CN7000 Mobile Control Center controls the
delivery of voice and data services, and manages all elements in the regional network, including access points and end-user devices.

The CN7000 Mobile Control Center acts as an aggregation point for the connected CN1100 Access Points and it performs routing and security functions. The
CN7000 Mobile Control Center is typically connected to the Internet/Global Information Grid (GIG) and one or more VoIP soft switches.
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xMonitor/xDrive:

These software tools provide integrated and comprehensive network and element management for the xMax® network, as well as mobile network throughput
and coverage optimization.

xMonitor is a component of the CN7000 Mobile Control Center that monitors the status and health of all CN1100 Access Points , CN7000 Mobile Control
Center elements, and VoIP core elements. It provides end-to-end IP network management and monitoring services. xMonitor is a web-based application that
will be installed at an operator’s Network Operation Center, enabling remote management of network status. The program runs as a live application that
continuously collects data from the network, updating the aggregated information without user intervention. It can be programmed to display specific views
around the clock — providing an at-a-glance heads-up display from which to survey the network.

xDrive is a drive mapping utility designed to gather, display and log performance statistics from the CN5100 Mobile Hotspot, CN3200 Dual-Band Routing
Modem and CN3100 Vehicle Modem. It will allow field technicians to map the coverage of a deployment of CN1100 Access Points, as well as providing
CN5100 Mobile Hotspot / CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modem/ CN3100 Vehicle Modem to CN1100 Access Points to link statistics.

Competition

The wireless technology sector is intensely competitive and is rapidly evolving. Several vendors have researched and experimented with cognitive radios. This
research predominately falls under the traditional industry defined use of a cognitive radio where cognitive capabilities are restricted to dynamic spectrum
access (“DSA”) within the radio device. However, we believe that only a few vendors are undertaking development across all the key elements of cognitive
technology: spectrum sensing, spectrum management, spectrum mobility, spectrum sharing, and spatial processing.
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As an example, both Spectrum Bridge and Microsoft have developed a database approach to frequency reuse. This method was developed specifically to enable
unlicensed broadband systems to coexist with existing TV transmitters in the TV White Spaces band.

We not only face competition from other companies developing cognitive radio solutions but we are also competing for sales to end-user customers with
companies offering solutions utilizing other technologies for access to licensed and unlicensed spectrum, such as LTE and Wi-Fi.

In the cognitive radio market, our competitors include, Neul Ltd., Shared Spectrum Corporation and Adaptrum.

End-customers in the rural broadband market are being offered a choice of solutions based on alternative technologies, such as LTE and Wi-Fi. Global
communications networking equipment vendors such as Ericsson, Huawei, Alcatel-Lucent and others are actively selling and deploying LTE and, to a lesser
extent, WiMax equipment with rural telecommunications operators that own, or can lease, appropriate licensed spectrum frequencies. We also face competition
for equipment sales with Ruckus Wireless, Ubiquiti Networks and Cambium Networks, which have also targeted markets for communications systems around
the world similar to our target markets. Although these companies are vastly larger than we are, with significantly greater resources, we believe that we or our
channel partners will need to convince end users to consider our offerings as a viable alternative to these larger companies if we are to succeed.

It is not uncommon for a single rural operator to deploy a mix of technologies (such as LTE and Wi-Fi) to address differing applications, spectrum holdings and
economics across their market areas. As new technologies are introduced and spectrum availability and costs increase, we anticipate that rural
telecommunications operators will continue to deploy a growing range of innovative solutions that deliver voice and data communications to their customers.

The main vendor in the public safety market is Motorola Solutions, which is a global player that holds a highly dominant market share in the U.S. of over 80%
in public safety and government wireless networks.

In the defense market, there are several large and significant companies that provide wireless communications systems to U.S. and international military
agencies, including Harris Corporation, ITT Industries, Raytheon, Boeing, Thales Communications and Lockheed Martin. It is common for one competitor to be
a subcontractor to another competitor who is the prime contractor and vice versa as programs of record ramp up and ramp down over time.

A number of our current or potential competitors have long operating histories, significant brand recognition, large customer bases and significantly greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources than we do. As an emerging technology company, our brand is not as well known as incumbents in
those markets. Potential customers may prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier, regardless of product performance or
features.

Competitive Positioning

Regulatory risk — we believe that our choice initially to develop our cognitive radio technology utilizing the unlicensed 902 – 928 band exposes us to less
regulatory risk than companies building products upon newly available TV White Space frequencies. Whereas the 902 – 928 MHz band has withstood multiple
attempts to redefine the rules regarding its use, newer frequency bands such as TV White Spaces have yet to demonstrate their permanence. Specific initiatives
to license off TV White Space frequencies for cellular carrier use are being promoted by licensed spectrum stakeholders. While our core technology can be
adapted for operation upon such newly available frequencies once their staying power has been demonstrated, we believe that we are not subject to the same
make-or-break dependency upon the availability of TV White Spaces as are most other cognitive radio product companies.
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Mobility — we are specifically developing our product line to support mobility. We believe that mobility is an important differentiator with regard to our
offering in the marketplace. Designed to do its own RF planning automatically by utilizing an extended range of non-interfering channels without manual
intervention, xMax® will offer the ability to make the entire network infrastructure mobile, with CN1100 Access Point base stations able to move in relation to
each other as well as to CN5100 Mobile Hotspots, CN3200 Dual-Band Routing Modems, xMax CN3100 Vehicle Modems and users. We believe this feature
will be unique to xMax® and will address a major capability gap for defense, homeland security, and public safety agencies which all require “on the move”
communications networks. These agencies currently have no equipment or capacity for this identified and urgently needed capability.

Supports both real-time VoIP and data sessions utilizing a single set of infrastructure — Most IP systems do not carry large numbers of simultaneous voice
conversations. We have focused on designing a core technology that is capable of carrying both mass-scale voice and data sessions on the same network.

Interference mitigation — Whereas most efforts to date focus on interference avoidance, we have extended our core competency into the realm of interference
mitigation. In a world where wireless demand is certain to result in more, not less, congested airwaves, we believe that our intellectual property that can help to
ameliorate interference is a unique competitive advantage in the marketplace.

Strong engineering management team — We maintain a strong, product-driven, engineering team with a track record within the Ad-Hoc wireless networking
domain with Motorola Mesh Networks.

No federal government unlimited use licenses — We have solely funded the development of our intellectual property, which is, accordingly, unencumbered by
any federal government unlimited use licenses.

Strong Patent Portfolio — We maintain a strong intellectual property portfolio that presents a barrier to entry to other firms that may attempt to develop
cognitive radio network technology.

We believe we compete favorably on these factors. However, our industry is evolving rapidly and is becoming increasingly competitive. Other developers could
develop alternative wireless cognitive networks and other technologies that may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers. These competitors
may include companies of which we may not be currently aware.

Sales and Marketing

Our strategy is to sell intellectual property and the equipment in which our intellectual property is initially implemented, globally direct and through an indirect
channel network that we will leverage in order to upscale our selling efforts without the significant cost of a large direct sales force. Our channel partners will
utilize their own internal and external sales representatives to provide lead generation among their established customer base and beyond, pre-sales support,
product fulfillment and, in certain circumstances, post-sales customer service and support. In certain cases, service providers may also act as a channel partner
for sales of our solutions to their existing customers or new enterprise accounts.

Our sales team currently is comprised of business development, relationship and account executives. This sales team is focused on supporting our current
customers, as well as nurturing relationships with prospective customers in key domestic and international markets. Our relationship managers support the
development of sales presentation materials and training of our channel partner sales personnel to assist them in marketing our services, either directly or
indirectly to their customers. We also directly train and support selected key customers and technology providers in order to grow an active client base and
solidify relationships. We are currently using the SalesLogix Customer Relationship Management (CRM) tool to manage our sales activity and manage these
relationships.
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As of December 31, 2014, our business development, sales and marketing team consisted of fourteen full-time employees or contractors. On February 26, 2015,
we announced that effective March 1, 2015, we will implement cost reduction initiatives that will include a decrease in our current full, part-time and contracted
workforce. We reduced our business development, sales and marketing team to ten full-time employees or contractors.

Customers

We have begun to implement our sales and marketing strategy, both through direct sales to end-customers and indirect sales to channel network partners and we
have entered into a number of equipment purchase, reseller and teaming agreements as a result. These customer engagements span our target markets in rural
telecommunications and defense.

The Company has historically recorded demand for its products through signed contracts from customers using prototype equipment, which contracts are
commonly referred to as backlog.  Total backlog approximated $34.3M in early 2013.  

The Company was delayed listing on the NASDAQ from April 2013 until July 2013.  The Company received proceeds of $7.4M or 37% of the planned
proceeds from the public offering.  FCC certification on its products was delayed until September 2013. Outsourcing a full production line, general release of
the software and establishing a sales division was further delayed until additional proceeds of $10M was completed in November 2013. A limited production
line was completed in December 2013 along with establishing a sales and customer service organization. During this timeframe,  rural broadband requirements
mandated by the FCC were changing with minimum speeds going from 4Mbps down and 1 up (initial products met these requirements)  to proposed speeds of
10Mbps down and 1 up.  This pending legislation was enacted into law in December 2014 which delayed the rural customers on the backlog to submit purchase
orders until new product met these requirements. The Company developed a new product and received FCC certification in January 2015.  The xRM
performance now exceeds the FCC requirements for rural broadband.

Certain contracts on the backlog expired during this timeframe and were not renewed.   These were mostly reseller agreements in which their customers could
not wait any longer for the Company to commercialize its products and/or receive the necessary certifications.  

Revenues are recognized over the respective lives of the agreements according to the delivery and transfer of ownership and risk of xMax equipment and the
provision of services as well as specification of features required by our customers.

Manufacturing and Suppliers

Our strategy is to retain contract manufacturers to manufacture, test, assure the quality of, and ship our products. We primarily utilize contract manufacturers
located in the United States to ensure proximity between the manufacturer and our design and development engineers and with the initial customers we
anticipate winning.

Our internal manufacturing organization consists of a small number of supply chain managers, employees and contractors who supervise the manufacture of our
products at contract manufacturer sites. We rely on our contract manufacturers, test engineers and our internal quality assurance resources to implement quality
assurance programs designed to assure high product quality and reliability.
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In the future, it is our strategy to focus on our core strengths, which are innovation and technology design and the development, creation and exploitation of our
intellectual property. Accordingly, we ultimately plan to become a designer, developer and fabless supplier of xMax integrated circuits and system software
solutions for xMax products where we would supply integrated circuits produced by third party manufacturing partners under license, software, reference
designs, features, tools and technical support.

We rely on third party components and technology to build our products, and we procure components, subassemblies and products necessary for the
manufacture of our products based upon our design, development and production needs. Once we have retained a contract manufacturer, they will be
responsible for obtaining these components, subassemblies and products. While components and supplies are generally available from a variety of sources, we
currently depend on a single or limited number of suppliers for several components for our products. We are using a single source digital signal processor that
may be difficult to replace with an equivalent performance device. In the longer term, we are planning to adapt the xMax system to run on multiple low cost
platforms. We rely on purchase orders rather than long-term contracts with our suppliers. We do not currently stockpile enough components to mitigate any
potential supply disruption if we are required to re-engineer our products to use alternative components. 

Intellectual Property

Our business is significantly based on the creation, acquisition, use and protection of intellectual property. Some of this intellectual property is in the form of
software code, patented technology and trade secrets that we use to develop our technologies, solutions and products. We have developed a broad portfolio of
intellectual property that covers wired and wireless communications systems. As of December 31, 2014, in the U.S., we have 52 patents granted, 7 patent
applications pending, and 1 provisional application pending. We have 64 patents granted, 68 patent applications pending, and 4 Patent Cooperation Treaty
(PCT) applications internationally.

Areas of our development activities for xMax® and beyond that have culminated in filings and/or awarded patents include:

We protect our intellectual property rights by relying on federal, state and common law rights, as well as contractual restrictions. We control access to our
proprietary technology by entering into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and confidentiality
agreements with third parties. We also actively engage in monitoring activities with respect to infringing uses of our intellectual property by third parties.
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In addition to these contractual arrangements, we also rely on a combination of trade secret, copyright, trademark, trade dress, domain name and patents to
protect our products and other intellectual property. We typically own the copyright to our software code, as well as the brand or title name trademark under
which our products are marketed. We pursue the registration of our domain names, trademarks, and service marks in the United States and in locations outside
the United States. Our registered trademarks in the United States include “xG”, and “xMax®”, the names of our suite of products, among others.

Circumstances outside our control could pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. For example, effective intellectual property protection may not be
available in the United States or other countries in which our products are sold or distributed. Also, the efforts we have taken to protect our proprietary rights
may not be sufficient or effective. Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete. In addition,
protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time-consuming. Any unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual property could make it more
expensive to do business, thereby harming our operating results.

Companies in the mobile wireless communications technology and other industries may own large numbers of patents, copyrights and trademarks and may
frequently request license agreements, threaten litigation or file suit against us based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights. We may face allegations by third parties, including our competitors and non-practicing entities, that we have infringed their trademarks, copyrights,
patents and other intellectual property rights. As our business grows, we will likely face more claims of infringement.

Government Regulations

Regulators’ Role in Spectrum

In the past, all radios were designed with the assumption that they were operating in a spectrum band that was free of interference. There was no requirement to
design radios with the ability to dynamically change channels or change spectrum bands in response to interference. These radios required pristine, dedicated
licensed spectrum to operate. This led to the FCC and other regulators worldwide licensing spectrum to a particular network operator, for example, cellular
paging or wireless service provider so that interference would be carefully controlled. Because of this past legacy, significant blocks of spectrum were
underutilized. Even in spectrum bands that might be considered to be highly utilized, valuable spectrum can sit idle in sparsely populated areas or at certain
hours of the day when network use dramatically drops.

There are also applications such as paging that have fallen out of favor and contribute to this underutilization. Despite the dramatic drop in the use of pagers, a
large amount of spectrum is still dedicated to this application. This regulatory policy has led to inefficient use of spectrum and consequently the declaration of a
spectrum crisis. While regulators are continuing to allocate spectrum based upon this assumption that radios do not have the ability to share spectrum, they are
now starting to embrace the concept of shared spectrum and the opportunistic use of spectrum enabled by cognitive radio networks.
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Regulators are starting to ease the rules relative to the allocation and access of spectrum. A good example of this is the shared use of TV broadcast spectrum via
the creation of TV White Spaces (TVWS) for wireless broadband. The FCC and other spectrum regulatory agencies like the UK’s Ofcom have begun the
process to allow cognitive radios to use freed-up spectrum resulting from the transition from analog to digital TV broadcasts. For example, TV white space
continues to gain momentum in the US and Europe with multiple deployments and trials being supported by some of the world’s largest technology companies.
Furthermore, a new group has been formed called AIR.U that is being funded by Microsoft, Google and others to utilize TV White Spaces to bring high-speed
Internet services to rural campuses, schools and other institutions in the US. Similar initiatives are being undertaken in the UK with extensive trials being done
in both urban and rural settings using TV White Spaces. In addition to two of the largest technology companies mentioned above, Nokia is also taking a leading
role in the UK’s TV White Space trials. While there have been rumors circulating that the FCC was somehow taking back TV White Spaces, there appears to be
no actual indication of this taking place. In fact, the FCC appears to be approving more TV White Space database administrators as well as certifying additional
radio platforms for operation in TV White Spaces. It is possible, nonetheless, that over time, TV White Spaces could be reclaimed by Congress or the FCC and
re-auctioned for licensed use. However, that is a risk any unlicensed spectrum faces and has never actually occurred in the US. Other countries globally are also
seriously considering creating their own TV white space allocations. These countries include Canada, Brazil and the EU.

Operators and consumers are able to use available unlicensed spectrum bands for the delivery of new applications and inexpensive broadband capacity. An
example of this is the data offload efforts of some carriers that use 802.11 Wi-Fi (in the 2.4 and 5.8 GHz unlicensed bands) in densely populated areas where
their 3G network is congested. This allows carriers to continue supporting mobile voice and data services over their licensed spectrum, while data that can be
consumed at a fixed location (airport, coffee shop, office, etc.) is forced over an unlicensed Wi-Fi link. However, the popularity of Wi-Fi and other devices that
use these frequencies has resulted in crowded and noisy spectrum that not only has to support the carriers’ smartphone data, but all other applications from other
devices in that band as well. The interference in these bands affects the capacity and efficiency of this spectrum for conventional radios. However, where
conventional radios see “walls of interference”, cognitive radios can uncover “windows of opportunity” and recover up to 85% of the total unused bandwidth in
these frequencies.

The FCC’s Part 15 rules that govern use of the 902 – 928 MHz ISM band and other unlicensed spectrum bands are well established and are considered
responsible for creating an environment where technology and innovation has flourished. They are recognized as having helped create an industry that has
generated tens of thousands of high technology jobs, added billions of dollars to the United States economy, and brought the benefits of a wide variety of
convenient, economical communications devices to business, industry, education, health care providers and consumers alike. While there have been some
attempts to challenge them, they have always been reaffirmed and we have every reason to believe they will remain so.
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Even during the recent debates over spectrum policy, there have been no suggestions put forth by the FCC, the Congress or industry to repurpose the ISM
unlicensed band to a licensed one that could be auctioned off. The reallocation of a band that is in active use by so many devices would be prohibitively
disruptive. Given the long history and widespread use of the ISM band for such a wide array of communications, we feel very confident that it will remain open
to use by technologies such as xMax® for the foreseeable future.

While devices operating upon unlicensed bands do not require FCC licensing, they are not unregulated and must meet the Federal Code of Regulation (CFR)
FCC Part 15, which is a common testing standard for most electronic equipment. FCC Part 15 covers the regulations under which an intentional, unintentional,
or incidental radiator that can be operated without an individual license. FCC Part 15 covers as well the technical specifications, administrative requirements and
other conditions relating to the marketing of FCC Part 15 devices.

In order to reduce regulatory risk and gain familiarity with the requirements we elected to obtain FCC equipment authorization on some of its pre-commercial
prototype xMax® devices. FCC authorized testing laboratories were used to make measurements to ensure that the prototype equipment complied with the
appropriate technical standards. Although not required unless specifically requested, we submitted a sample unit and representative data to the Commissions
demonstrating compliance. Multiple briefings were also scheduled with the FCC Chief of the Office of Engineering Technology (OET) and staff, which is
responsible for Equipment Certifications in an effort to inform them of our design approaches and objectives. While our commercial xMax® product offering
will again require equipment authorization prior to sales, we believe that we are well positioned to meet such regulatory requirements, both from our prior
experience certifying its prototype equipment and the fact that our engineering management team has specific prior experience obtaining FCC equipment
authorization for other unlicensed devices.

Underserved and underpenetrated markets.   Wireless networks are emerging as an attractive alternative for addressing both the broadband access needs of
underserved and underpenetrated markets and for offering a host of other services and solutions. According to forecasts made by the ITU in 2014, global mobile
broadband penetration was expected to reach 32% by the end of 2014, compared to only 10% for fixed-mobile penetration. The difference is especially acute in
less developed areas. We believe this is due to the lack of an established network infrastructure and the high initial deployment costs of wired networks. We
believe that this rate has the potential to be even higher if carrier class wireless solutions were broadly available at a fraction of the established market costs.

Limitation of existing solutions.   Existing wireless networking technologies such as standard 802.11 based Wi-Fi, WiMax and LTE have been designed to
satisfy the increasing demand for broadband access and support mobility. According to a Gartner forecast, aggregate end-user spending on wireless networking
equipment for Enterprise WLAN, wireless broadband access, and LTE solutions, is expected to grow from $10.4 billion in 2012 to $41.3 billion in 2017,
representing a CAGR of 32%. However, these existing alternative networking solutions often fail to meet the price-performance requirements of wireless
networking in emerging markets, which in turn has led to low penetration and large populations of unaddressed users in these areas. As a result, there is a strong
need for cost-effective solutions to deliver wireless networking solutions to consumers and enterprises in underserved and underpenetrated markets. These
solutions must be robust and provide service equivalent to that of alternative wired and wireless solutions while simultaneously meeting the economic objectives
of network operators and service providers in these markets.
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Increasing use of the unlicensed spectrum.   Private industry in underserved and underpenetrated markets worldwide has responded to the lack of wired
infrastructure by deploying wireless networks utilizing unlicensed RF spectrum. These network operators and service providers often cannot afford the capital
outlay to acquire licenses for the licensed RF spectrum and have consequently designed their wireless networks for the unlicensed RF spectrum. In the absence
of affordable broadband access in the licensed spectrum, the number of users of the unlicensed RF spectrum has increased for communications equipment, as
well as consumer devices such as cordless phones, baby monitors and microwave ovens. As a result of high demand for the unlicensed RF spectrum, use of this
spectrum to provide high quality wireless networking has become more challenging and congestion is limiting the growth of wireless networks.

Government incentives for broadband access.   Governments around the world are increasingly taking both regulatory and financial steps to expand access to
broadband networks and increase availability of advanced broadband services to consumers and businesses. For example, in many countries, including the
United States, the responsible regulatory agencies have released the spectrum previously used for broadcast TV, known as the TV White Space, to relieve some
of the congestion. The United States and other countries have adopted stimulus plans to increase the delivery of robust broadband access in unserved and
underserved areas. The World Bank has reported that 12 countries and the EU have committed an aggregate of $122.4 billion in broadband stimulus funds to
date.

Company Information

The Company was organized as a limited liability company under the laws of the State of Delaware on August 26, 2002 under the name JTS Acquisitions, LLC.
On March 21, 2003, we changed our name to xG Technology, LLC. Pursuant to a certificate of conversion and a certificate of incorporation filed with the State
of Delaware on November 8, 2006, xG Technology, LLC converted to a Delaware corporation under the name xG Technology, Inc. Our executive offices are
located at 240 S. Pineapple Avenue, Suite 701, Sarasota, FL 34236, and our telephone number is (941) 953-9035. Our website address is
www.xgtechnology.com. Information contained in our website does not form part of the report and is intended for informational purposes only.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth
company for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue exceed $1 billion, (ii) the date that
we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is held
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter or (iii) the date on which we have issued
more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year period. Pursuant to Section 102 of the JOBS Act, we have provided reduced
executive compensation disclosure and have omitted a compensation discussion and analysis from this Report. Pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, we
have elected to utilize the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting
standards.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we employed 84 full-time equivalent employees, contractors or consultants, which included 59 in development, 4 officers, 5 in
general and administrative, 1 in business development, 2 in operations and 13 in sales and marketing. We also engage a number of temporary employees and
consultants. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or is a party to a collective bargaining agreement. Subsequent to December 31, 2014, we
reduced our headcount by 15, as part of a cost-cutting initiative. Please see “Management Discussion and Analysis-Subsequent Events-Cost Reduction
Initiatives” in this Report for a further discussion. We believe that we have good relations with our employees.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

As a Smaller Reporting Company, the Company is not required to include the disclosure under this Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters and marketing and business development office are located in Sarasota, Florida, in an office consisting of a total of 3,403 square feet
pursuant to a lease that expires October 31, 2019. For our research and development, engineering, sales and support personnel we also have an office in Sunrise,
Fort Lauderdale, Florida consisting of 12,832 square feet pursuant to a lease that expires on May 11, 2016. We believe our current facilities are sufficient for our
current needs and will be adequate, or that suitable additional or substitute space will be available on commercially reasonable terms, for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently not involved in any litigation that we believe could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. There is
no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to
the knowledge of the executive officers of our company or any of our subsidiaries, threatened against or affecting our company, our common stock, any of our
subsidiaries or of our company’s or our company’s subsidiaries’ officers or directors in their capacities as such, in which an adverse decision could have a
material adverse effect. From time to time, we may become involved legal proceedings, lawsuits, claims and regulations in the ordinary course of our business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Our shares are currently listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “XGTI”. Our shares began trading on NASDAQ on July 19, 2013 and the
London Stock Exchange’s AIM Market in November 20, 2006. The cancellation of the Company’s common stock on the AIM Market became effective January
3, 2014.

The following table shows the high and low market prices for our shares for each fiscal quarter for the two most recent fiscal years. Market prices for our shares
have fluctuated significantly. As a result, the market prices shown in the following table may not be indicative of the market prices at which our shares will
trade after this filing. These prices reflect our reverse splits of our common stock undertaken in 2013.

Holders

As of March 27, 2015, there were 36,220,748 shares outstanding and approximately 171 holders of record of our shares. Because shares of our common stock
are held by depositories, brokers and other nominees, the number of beneficial holders of our shares is substantially larger than the number of stockholders of
record. Our transfer agent and registrar is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 17 Battery Place, 8th Floor, New York, New York 10004.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future.
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

XGTI (NASDAQ)
Share Price

XGTU (AIM) 
Share Price

XGT (AIM) 
Share Price

(US Dollars) (US Dollars)
Quarter High Low High Low High Low
Fourth Quarter 2014 $ 2.05 $ 0.49 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Third Quarter 2014 $ 2.74 $ 1.86 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Second Quarter 2014 $ 3.01 $ 1.28 N/A N/A N/A N/A
First Quarter 2014(**) $ 5.01 $ 1.12 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fourth Quarter 2013 $ 5.10 $ 1.40 $ 5.50 $ 1.00 $ 10.00 $ 10.00
Third Quarter 2013(*) $ 7.15 $ 4.60 $ 9.00 $ 5.50 $ 13.00 $ 10.00
Second Quarter 2013 N/A N/A $ 10.01 $ 6.75 $ 13.00 $ 13.00
First Quarter 2013 N/A N/A $ 13.13 $ 7.88 $ 15.75 $ 14.00

* XGTI (NASDAQ) trading began on July 19, 2013.
** XGTU and XGT ceased trading on January 3, 2014.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Reference is made to “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters—Securities Authorized for
Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” for the information required by this item.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a Smaller Reporting Company, the Company is not required to include the disclosure under this Item 6 Selected Financial Data.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Report.

Overview

xG Technology, Inc. has developed a broad portfolio of innovative intellectual property that we believe will enhance wireless communications. Our intellectual
property is embedded in proprietary software algorithms that offer cognitive (intelligent) radio-based interference mitigation and spectrum sharing solutions.

Our strategy is initially to commercialize our intellectual property portfolio by developing and selling network equipment using our proprietary software
algorithms to offer cognitive radio-based interference mitigation and spectrum sharing solutions. In the future, our strategy is for our intellectual property to be
embedded by partners in a semiconductor chip that could be sold to third party equipment manufacturers and inserted in their devices and to license our
intellectual property to other customers in vertical markets worldwide. The implementation of our cognitive radio intellectual property is xMax®. We believe
the xMax® system represents the only commercially available cognitive radio network system that is designed to include interference mitigation by spatial
processing. xMax® implements our proprietary interference mitigation software that can increase capacity on already crowded airwaves by improving
interference tolerance, enabling the delivery of a comparatively high Quality of Service where other technologies would not be able to cope with the
interference.

We believe that the xMax® system will also, when in a future development operating on more than one radio channel, deliver dynamic spectrum access by
scanning and finding unused or underused frequencies (unlicensed as well as licensed) and dynamically tuning to them, significantly increasing their usable
capacity.

Our system is frequency-agnostic although currently designed to operate within the 902 – 928 MHz license-free band. xMax® is intended to serve as a mobile
voice over internet protocol (“VoIP”) and broadband data system that utilizes an end-to-end Internet Protocol (“IP”) system architecture. The xMax® product
and service suite includes a line of access points, fixed and mobile dual-band hotspots, mobile switching centers, network management and deployment tools,
and customer support. The xMax® system will allow mobile operators to utilize free, unlicensed 902 – 928 MHz ISM band spectrum (which spectrum is
available in most of the Americas) instead of purchasing scarce, expensive licensed spectrum. Our xMax® system will also enable enterprises to set up a mobile
communications network in an expeditious and cost-effective manner. In addition, we believe that our xMax® cognitive radio technology can also be used to
provide additional capacity to licensed spectrum by identifying and utilizing unused bandwidth within the licensed spectrum.
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Result of Operations

The following table sets forth the relationship to total revenues of principal items contained in the statement of operations of the financial statements included
herewith for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT NET LOSS PER SHARE DATA)

Revenue

Our revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 increased 55% from $0.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $0.6 million as a result of
recognizing additional revenue during the fiscal year. Revenue of $423,000 resulted from sales of equipment and $205,000 resulted from an engineering and
consulting services agreement.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of Components and Personnel

Cost of components and personnel was $0.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $0.1 million in fiscal 2013. $130,000 of such costs is
based on the cost of components and the time allocated to building the products sold and $26,000 is based on the cost of the time allocated towards the
engineering and consulting services agreements.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses are the expenses of operating the business on a daily basis and include salary and benefit expenses and payroll taxes, as
well as the costs of trade shows, marketing programs, promotional materials, professional services, facilities, general liability insurance, and travel.
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For the Year Ended
December 31,

2014 2013
Revenue $ 628 $ 406
Cost of revenue and operating expenses

Cost of components and personnel 156 102
General and administrative expenses 7,618 5,501
Development 7,597 5,468
Stock based compensation 625 796
Amortization and depreciation 3,871 2,370

Total cost of revenue and operating expenses 19,867 14,237
Loss from operations (19,239) (13,831)

Other income (expense)
Other income 440 —
Other expense — (10,068)
Inducement expense — (391)
Interest expense, net (179) (2,227)
Impairment — (933)

Total other income (expense) 261 (13,619)
Loss before income tax provision (18,978) (27,450)

Income tax provision — —
Net loss $ (18,978) $ (27,450)
Dividends *— —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders (18,978) (27,450)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.83) (2.86)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic and diluted 22,847 9,598

* Less than $1
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General and administrative expenses increased by $2.1 million, or 38%, from $5.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $7.6 million in the year
ended December 31, 2014. The change is primarily due to increases of $1.1 million in salary and benefit expenses due to an increase in the number of
employees; $0.8 million for the MBTH 3% cash success fee as a result of MBTH arranging financing for the Company and $0.2 million in travel related
expenses.

Development

Development expenses consist primarily of salary and benefit expenses and payroll taxes, as well as costs for prototypes, facilities and travel. Development
expenses increased by $2.1 million, or 39%, from $5.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $7.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2014.

The change is due to increases of $2.5 million in salary and benefit expenses due to the increase in the number of employees, $0.3 million in travel related
expenses and $0.1 million in costs related to maintaining existing patents. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $0.9 million in research and
development expenses. We expect our development costs to decrease going forward as we implement cost saving measures in 2015 which include a reduction in
our current full-time, part-time and contracted workforce.

Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation decreased by $0.2 million, or 21%, from $0.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $0.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 2014. The change arose from a decrease in the number of outstanding options being expensed in fiscal 2014 when compared to fiscal 2013.

Amortization and Depreciation

Amortization and depreciation expenses increased by $1.5 million, or 63%, from $2.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 to $3.9 million in the year
ended December 31, 2014. The increase is attributed to the xMax products becoming available for sale as of September 30, 2013. As of this date, the Company
began to amortize all capitalized costs associated with these products for the remainder of the year.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income was $0.4 million and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The increase was the result of a reversal of a deferred
liability in 2014 from a prior fiscal year.

Other expense was $0 and $10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The expense for 2013 was a result of the independent
directors of the Company authorizing a onetime agreement on September 30, 2013, whereby we issued to MB Technology Holdings, LLC (“MBTH”) 1,599,453
shares of our common stock and a warrant to purchase 1,363,636 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.87 per share for the difference in price
between the shares issued to them in March 2013 at a price of $13.30 per share in exchange for the conversion of its 2011 Convertible Note and the $5.50
purchase price for shares sold in our initial public offering in July 2013. Additionally, the modified strike price, agreed upon between the Company and MBTH
in January 2013, of $13.30 per share for the two options representing 571,428 underlying shares granted to MBTH in February 2011 has been lowered to $5.50.

Inducement expense was $0 and $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The inducement expense represents the estimated
fair value of warrants given to non-related parties in relation with the conversion of the $7.8 million promissory note issued by us to MBTH pursuant to a
subscription agreement dated January 16, 2013 (the “Bridge Loan”).

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $0.2 million compared to $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, representing a
decrease of $2.0 million or 92%. The decrease was partially due to the interest and fees incurred on the Bridge Loan for 2013; $0.7 million from the six month
minimum interest recorded in connection with the increase interest rate; $0.4 million from the accretion of the debt discount recorded as interest expense; and
$0.6 million in interest expense resulted from the Bridge Loan being convertible into new shares at a price of $5.225, 95% of our 2013 initial public offering
(the “IPO”) price of $5.50, in 2013.
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Impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $0 compared to $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, $896,000 of our impairment charge was related to property and equipment and $37,000 was related to intangible assets.

Net Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company had a net loss of $19.0 million, as compared to a net loss of $27.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2013, a decrease of $8.5 million or 31%. The decrease in net loss is due mainly to the one-time agreement with MBTH, increases of inducement expense
and interest expenses for 2013 discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our operations primarily have been funded through cash generated by debt and equity financing. Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Our cash
balances were as follows:

During 2014, the Company relied upon additional investment through proceeds from a registered public offering in April 2014 and through the financings off of
our Shelf Registration Statement in the third and fourth fiscal quarters as further described below. During 2013, the Company relied upon additional investment
through proceeds from the IPO, our 2013 public offering, Bridge Loan and convertible notes payable. The Company will be dependent on new debt or equity
financing to fund future operations.

We have incurred net losses of $19.0 million and $27.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Additionally, we have incurred
negative operating cash flows including cash used in operations of $14.6 million and $14.4 million in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Our future capital requirements may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the
timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the timing of new product introductions, market acceptance of our products and overall economic
conditions. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to raise additional capital, obtain other means of financing,
and to fulfill purchase orders. The ability to recognize revenue and ultimately cash receipts, on purchase orders is contingent upon, but not limited to, acceptable
performance of the delivered equipment and services.
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2014 $’000 2013 $’000

Cash 758 5,517
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Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the major components of our statements of cash flows data for the periods presented.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 totaled $14.6 million as compared to $14.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. Of the $14.6 million, approximately $1.7 million was related to the increase of our inventory, $1.9 million was the increase in due to related parties, $1.0
million to the reduction of our payables and $0.3 million from the increase in accrued expense and the remaining consisted principally of the net loss from
operations.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $1.9 million as compared to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
This represents capital expenditures primarily associated with the investment in product and technology development and our patent portfolio.

We have invested in product and technology development and our patent portfolio, with $1.8 million accounted for as investment in intangible assets in the year
ended December 31, 2014, and $2.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2013. In addition, the Company’s investment in property and equipment,
comprising the purchase of testing and manufacturing equipment, of $0.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased by $0.2 million, or 54%, from
$0.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Financing Activities

Our net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $11.8 million as compared to $22.5 million for 2013. The proceeds of
$11.8 million in 2014 primarily consisted of proceeds from the issuance of common and preferred stock. During 2014, the Company raised $8.8 million through
the third offering; $1.0 million from the $1 million purchase agreement; $1.3 million from various investors through financing under our S-3 registration
statement; and $0.7 million through the sale of convertible preferred stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the proceeds of $22.5 million in 2013 primarily consisted of further advances under convertible promissory notes
issued by the Company and proceeds from issuance of common stock. During 2013, the Company raised $7.8 million through the IPO and IPO over-allotment,
$9.6 million through the November 2013 offering and related partial over-allotment, drew down $5.0 million under the Bridge Loan and $0.5 million under the
convertible notes payable to related party. Also note holders converted the May 2011 shareholders note of $15 million and the Bridge Loan of $11.4 million
during 2013.
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Year Ended December 31, 2014
$’000

Year Ended December 31, 2013
$’000

Net cash used in operating activities (14,619) (14,395)
Net cash used in investment activities (1,905) (2,896)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 11,765 22,537
Net (decrease) increase in cash (4,759) 5,246
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2013 Financings

Initial Public Offering

On July 24, 2013, the Company closed its initial public offering of 1,337,792 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 668,896 shares of common
stock, at a purchase price to the public of $5.50 per share and $0.01 per warrant, for net proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts and
offering expenses, of $6,750,673. The warrants have an exercise price of $6.87 per share, are exercisable immediately and will expire five years from the date of
issuance. Feltl and Company and Aegis Capital Corp acted as joint underwriters for the offering.

On August 19, 2013, the underwriters exercised in full their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 200,668 shares of common stock and warrants to
purchase 100,334 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $6.87, at a purchase price to the public of $5.50 per share and $0.01 per warrant, for net
proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts, of $1,027,349.

November 2013 Offering

On November 18, 2013, the Company closed a public offering of 5,715,000 shares of common stock at a purchase price to the public of $1.75 per share, for net
proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts and offering expenses, of $9,146,888. Aegis Capital Corp and Feltl and Company acted as joint
underwriters for the offering.

On December 12, 2013, the underwriters made a partial exercise of their over-allotment option in which they purchased an additional 255,000 shares of
common stock at a purchase price to the public of $1.75 per share, for net proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts, of $415,013. The
underwriters had an option to purchase up to 857,250 shares of common stock or 15% of the total number of shares offered within 45 days after the closing of
the Offering.

Bridge Loan

During 2013, the Company drew down $5.0 million under the Bridge Loan. On August 22, 2013, the Company refinanced approximately $1,013,000 of
liabilities previously paid by MBTH during 2013 on behalf of the Company through the Bridge Loan and incurred an origination fee of approximately $50,000.
On August 7, 2013, the Company repaid $125,000 to a non-related investor for investment into the Bridge Loan.

On August 22, 2013, the Company issued 2,187,529 common shares for the conversion of the balance of approximately $11,429,000 in principal and accrued
interest and fees at a price per share of $5.225.

Convertible Notes Payable

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company drew down $450,000 under the convertible notes payable to related party, compared to $10.3 million
for 2012. On January 16, 2013, principal in excess of $15 million and any accrued interest and fees related to the Convertible notes were converted into the
Bridge Loan balance discussed below.
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2014 Financings

April 2014 Offering

On April 22, 2014, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 5,265,000 shares of common stock, at a purchase price to the public of $1.90 per
share, for net proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts and offering expenses, of $8,816,000. Roth Capital Partners and Feltl and
Company acted as underwriters for the offering.

Purchase Agreements and Registration Rights Agreement with Lincoln Park

$1,000,000 Purchase Agreement

On September 22, 2014, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund (“Lincoln Park”), pursuant to which we offered
500,000 shares of our common stock to Lincoln Park at a price of $2.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $961,000 net of expenses. The closing of
the transaction occurred on September 24, 2014. The Company issued the 500,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the Company’s registration statement on
Form S-3 that was declared effective on August 31, 2014 (the “Shelf Registration Statement’).

$15,000,000 Purchase Agreement

On September 19, 2014, we entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “$15M Purchase Agreement”) and a registration rights agreement with Lincoln Park. In
consideration for entering into the transaction, we issued 175,000 shares of our common stock to Lincoln Park as a commitment fee upon execution of the $15M
Purchase Agreement. We recorded $346,000 as a prepaid expense based upon a stock price of $1.98 on the date of issuance. Lincoln Park also agreed to
purchase up to $15,000,000 of our shares of common stock over the 24-month term of the $15M Purchase Agreement.

The $15M Purchase Agreement provides that, from time to time over the term of the $15M Purchase Agreement, on any business day, as often as every other
business day, and at our sole discretion, we may require Lincoln Park to purchase up to 100,000 shares of our common stock (a “Regular Purchase”); provided,
however, that (i) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 150,000 shares of our common stock provided that the closing sale price of our common stock is
not below $2.00 on the purchase date, (ii) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 200,000 shares of our common stock provided that the closing sale price
of our common stock is not below $2.50 on the purchase date and (iii) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 250,000 shares of our common stock
provided that the closing sale price of our common stock is not below $3.00 on the purchase date; and provided, further, that the aggregate price of any Regular
Purchase shall not exceed $1,000,000. We may not sell any shares of our common stock as a Regular Purchase on a date in which the closing sale price of our
common stock is below $1.50. The purchase price for Regular Purchases shall be equal to the lesser of (i) the lowest sale price of our common stock on the
purchase date and (ii) the average of the three (3) lowest closing sale prices of our common stock during the ten (10) business days prior to the purchase date, as
reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

We also have the right, at our sole discretion, to require Lincoln Park to make an accelerated purchase on the business day following the purchase date of a
Regular Purchase in an amount up to the lesser of (i) 200% of the number of shares of common stock purchased as a Regular Purchase and (ii) 30% of the
trading volume of our common stock on such accelerated purchase date, provided that the closing price of our common stock equals or exceeds $1.50 on such
accelerated purchase date, as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The purchase price per share of common stock for any accelerated purchase will be
equal to the lesser of (i) the closing sale price of our common stock on the accelerated purchase date and (ii) 95% of the volume weighted average price of our
common stock on the accelerated purchase date.
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On October 3, 2014, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC to register 4,782,906 shares of the Company’s common stock for
sale to Lincoln Park under the $15M Purchase Agreement and the 175,000 shares of common stock issued to Lincoln Park as a commitment fee. On October 20,
2014, the SEC declared this registration statement effective.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has drawn down $145,000 and issued 100,000 shares of common stock under the $15M Purchase Agreement. The
prepaid expense for this financing was $294,000 as of December 31, 2014, representing a decrease of $52,000 from the initial recording of $346,000. The
Company is amortizing the prepaid balance to additional paid in capital on a straight line basis over the term of the agreement.

$1,331,500 Purchase Agreement

On November 25, 2014, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to Lincoln Park, certain officers and directors of
the Company (the “Affiliate Purchasers”) and certain other investors (the “Other Investors”) an aggregate of $1,331,500 of the Company’s common stock,. The
Company received net proceeds of $1,311,500 after deducting $20,000 in expenses associated with the purchase agreement. Pursuant to the purchase agreement,
Lincoln Park purchased 500,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.25 per share, the Affiliate Purchasers purchased 245,984 shares of Common
Stock at a purchase price of $1.37 per share and the Other Investors purchased 295,600 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.25 per share pursuant
to the Company’s Shelf Registration Statement.

Equity Distribution Agreement with Roth Capital Partners, LLC

On November 18, 2014, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Equity Distribution Agreement”) with Roth Capital Partners, LLC (“Roth”),
pursuant to which we may sell from time to time up to $10,000,000 of shares of our common stock (the “Shares”), through Roth (the “Offering”). The Equity
Distribution Agreement was amended on December 29, 2014 to change the amount of the Offering to up to $1,000,000. Effective February 23, 2015, we
terminated the Equity Distribution Agreement with Roth.
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Purchase Agreement with 31 Group

On December 30, 2014, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with 31 Group, LLC (“31 Group”) pursuant to which we
sold to 31 Group, for a purchase price of $750,000, 750,000 shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Series A
Preferred Stock”) and warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase 375,000 shares of our common stock. We also issued to 31 Group 33,142 shares of our common
stock in consideration of 31 Group’s execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The offer and sale of the Series A
Preferred Stock, the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were made pursuant to the Shelf
Registration Statement. 

Series A Preferred Stock

As of March 27 2015, $750,000 of the Series A Convertible Stock and $52,500 in dividends have been converted into 2,392,465 shares of common stock. As of
March 27, 2015, all outstanding shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have been fully converted.

Ranking. The Series A Preferred Stock will rank with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon distributions, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company senior to all of our common stock and other classes of capital stock, unless the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred
Stock consent to the creation of parity stock or senior preferred stock.

Liquidation Preference of Series A Preferred Stock. Upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, before the
payment of any amount to the holder of shares of junior stock, but pari passu with any parity stock, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to
receive an amount equal to the greater of (i) the stated value of the Series A Preferred Stock or (ii) the amount the holder of Series A Preferred Stock would
receive if such holder converted the Series A Preferred Stock into common stock immediately prior to the date of the liquidation event, including accrued and
unpaid dividends.

Dividends on Series A Preferred Stock. Holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive from the first date of issuance of the Series A Preferred
Stock until the date that is twelve (12) months from the issuance date (the “Maturity Date”) cumulative dividends at a rate of 7.0% per annum on a compounded
basis. The Company shall have the right to pay dividends in cash or shares of common stock on the Maturity Date or in cash on any applicable redemption date
or, with respect to Series A Preferred Stock subject to conversion into common stock, as part of the conversion amount.

Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock. Upon the occurrence of certain triggering events (including the Series A Preferred Stock or common stock underlying
the Series A Preferred Stock is not freely tradeable without restriction; the failure of the common stock to be listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market or other
national securities exchange; and bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation proceedings instituted against the Company shall not be dismissed in
thirty (30) days or the voluntary commencement of such proceedings by the Company), the holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the
Company, by written notice, to redeem all or any of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock at a price equal to the greater of (i) 125% of the conversion amount
to be redeemed and (ii) the product of (a) the conversion amount divided by 85% of the average of the five (5) lowest volume weighted average prices of the
common stock during the twenty (20) consecutive trading day period ending the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable conversion
notice multiplied by (b) 125% of the greatest closing sale price of the common stock on any trading day during the period commencing on the date immediately
preceding such triggering event and ending on the date the Company makes the entire redemption payment to the holder of Series A Preferred Stock.

Upon the occurrence of a change in control of the Company, a holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the Company to redeem all or
any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock at a price equal to 125% of the stated value of the Series A Preferred Stock. In addition, so long as certain conditions
do not exist (including the Company shall have timely delivered any common stock upon the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock), then the Company
shall have the right to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Preferred Stock outstanding in cash at a price equal to the sum of (i) 125% of the stated
value of the Series A Preferred Stock and (ii) all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon.
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At any time from and after the tenth (10) business day prior to the date of maturity, a holder of the Series A Preferred Stock may require the Company to redeem 
all or any number of Series A Preferred Shares held by such holder at a purchase price equal to 105% of the conversion amount of such Series A Preferred 
Shares.

Conversion Rights of Series A Preferred Stock. A holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to convert the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in
part, upon written notice to the Company at a conversion price equal to the lower of (i) $2.00 or (ii) 85% of the average of the five (5) lowest volume weighted
average prices of the common stock during the twenty (20) consecutive trading day period ending the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the
applicable conversion notice (as adjusted for stock splits, share combinations and similar transactions).

Fundamental Transaction. The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to not enter into a “fundamental transaction” unless the successor entity
assumes the obligations of the Company under the Certificate of Designations and the successor entity (including its parent entity) is a publicly traded company
whose shares of common stock are quoted or listed on an eligible national securities exchange. Upon a change of control of the Company, a holder of Series A
Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock at the applicable premium redemption
price. A fundamental transaction is a transaction in which (i) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions, (a) consolidates or merges
with or into any other entity (except where the Company is the surviving entity), (b) sells, leases, licenses, assigns, transfers, conveys or otherwise disposes of
all or substantially all of its properties or assets to any other entity, (c) allows any other entity to make a purchase, tender or exchange offer that is accepted by
such holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company (not including any shares of voting stock of the Company held by the
entity making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the entity making or party to, such purchase, tender or exchange offer), or (d) consummates a stock or
share purchase agreement or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off or scheme of arrangement)
with any other entity whereby such other entity acquires more than 50% of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company (not including any shares of
voting stock of the Company held by the other entity making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the other entity making or party to, such stock or share
purchase agreement or other business combination), or (e) reorganizes, recapitalizes or reclassifies the common stock (which shall not include a reverse stock
split), or (ii) any “person” or “group” (as these terms are used for purposes of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the
“Exchange Act”) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) is or shall become the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act), directly or indirectly, of 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by issued and outstanding voting stock of the Company.

Voting Rights. Except with respect to certain material changes in the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock and certain other matters, and except as may be
required by Delaware law, holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights. The approval of a majority of the holders of the Series A Preferred
Stock is required to amend the Certificate of Designations.

Warrants

The Warrants are exercisable immediately for a period of five years from their issue date. The exercise price with respect to the warrants is $2.00 per share. The
exercise price for the warrants is subject to adjustment upon certain events, such as stock splits, combinations, dividends, distributions, reclassifications,
mergers or other corporate change and dilutive issuances. Upon certain fundamental events, the warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at
fair market value estimated using Black Scholes. 
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Short Term Loan

On December 30, 2014, the Company received a $245,000 loan from George Schmitt, Chairman of the Board and, effective as of February 17, 2015, Chief
Executive Officer. This amount was recorded as a due to related parties on the financial statements.

Subsequent Events

Short Term Loans

On January 8, 2015, the Company repaid $100,000 of the $245,000 due to related party balance owed to George Schmitt.

On January 29, 2015 and February 13, 2015, the Company received an aggregate of $700,000 from certain family members of George Schmitt, Chairman of the
Board and, effective as of February 17, 2015, Chief Executive Officer. This amount was recorded as a short term loan in due to related parties. On February 23,
2015, George Schmitt transferred the balance of his $145,000 loan to certain family members bringing the total the Company owed to certain family members
to $845,000. The $845,000 loan was settled through the issuance of 845,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, 53,095 shares of common stock and warrants
with respect to 422,500 underlying shares of common stock exercisable for five years at a price of $2.00 per share. Upon certain fundamental events, the
warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at fair market value estimated using Black Scholes.

$350,000 Purchase Agreement

On February 11, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to 31 Group, 350,000 of the Company’s Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) and warrants to purchase 175,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock for a purchase price of $350,000. The Company also issued 24,619 shares of its common stock in consideration of 31 Group’s execution and delivery of
the purchase agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Shelf
Registration Statement.

Series B Preferred Stock

As of March 27 2015, $945,000 of the Series B Convertible Stock and $66,150 in dividends have been converted into 2,677,010 shares of our common stock.
As of March 27, 2015, $250,000 of the Series B Preferred Stock remains outstanding.

The Series B Preferred Stock rank pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon distributions, liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the Company and have the same terms and preferences as the Series A Preferred Stock except for the following:

Conversion Rights of Series B Preferred Stock. A holder of Series B Preferred Stock shall have the right to convert the Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in
part, upon written notice to the Company at a conversion price equal to the lower of (i) $2.00 or (ii) 85% of the lowest volume weighted average price of the
common stock of the Company during the five (5) consecutive trading day period ending and including the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of
the applicable conversion notice (as adjusted for stock splits, share combinations and similar transactions).

Table of Contents

35



$1,800,000 Purchase Agreement

On February 24, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to institutional investors, 1,800,000 of the
Company’s Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Series C Preferred Stock”) and warrants to purchase 900,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for a purchase price of $1,800,000. The Company also issued 118,631 shares of its common stock in consideration of the investors’
execution and delivery of the purchase agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were issued pursuant to the
Company’s Shelf Registration Statement.

Series C Preferred Stock

As of March 27, 2015, $168,224 of the Series C Convertible Stock and $11,776 in dividends have been converted into 684,220 shares of our common stock. As
of March 27, 2015, $1,631,776 of the Series C Preferred Stock remains outstanding.

The Series C Preferred Stock rank pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock and our Series B Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights and/or rights
upon distributions, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company and have the same terms and preferences as the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock
except for the following:

Conversion Rights of Series C Preferred Stock. Upon the occurrence of certain triggering events (including the Preferred Stock or common stock underlying the
Preferred Stock is not freely tradeable without restriction; the failure of the common stock to be listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market or other national
securities exchange; and bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation proceedings instituted against the Company shall not be dismissed in thirty (30)
days or the voluntary commencement of such proceedings by the Company), the holder of Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the Company, by
written notice, to redeem all or any of the shares of Preferred Stock at a price equal to the greater of (i) 125% of the conversion amount to be redeemed and (ii)
the product of (a) the conversion amount divided by the lower of (x) $2.00 or (y) 85% of the lowest volume weighted average price of the common stock of the
Company during the five (5) consecutive trading day period ending and including the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable
conversion notice multiplied by (b) 125% of the greatest closing sale price of the common stock on any trading day during the period commencing on the date
immediately preceding such triggering event and ending on the date the Company makes the entire redemption payment to the holder of Preferred Stock.

On each of March 12, 2015, March 24, 2015, April 12, 2015 and April 24, 2015, upon the Company’s failure to met certain conditions (including the
Company’s common stock failing to maintain a minimum trading price and the common stock failing to maintain certain trading volumes) during the period
between the initial issuance date of the Preferred Stock and the relevant determination date, the holders of Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the
Company, by written notice, to redeem in cash up to $300,000 of the Preferred Stock, at a price equal to the sum of (i) the stated value of Preferred Stock to be
redeemed multiplied by 105% (for redemptions occurring within the first thirty days of the initial issuance date) or 110% (for redemptions occurring during the
period between thirty and sixty days of the initial issuance date) plus (ii) all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon until the date of the redemption.

Cost Reduction Initiatives 

On February 26, 2015, the Company announced that effective March 1, 2015, it will implement cost reduction initiatives that will include a decrease in the
Company’s current full, part-time and contracted workforce. These initiatives will result in a reduction in monthly operating expenses to approximately
$800,000 – an improvement of over 30 percent.

Table of Contents

36



Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We are an ‘‘emerging growth company’’ as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth
company for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue exceed $1 billion, (ii) the date that
we become a ‘‘large accelerated filer’’ as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter or (iii) the date on which we have
issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year period. Pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, we have elected to utilize
the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers: Topic 606. This update affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the
transfer of nonfinancial assets, unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards. The guidance in this update supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition and most industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize
revenue to illustrate the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will provide users of financial statements
with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a reporting organization’s contracts
with customers. This ASU is effective retrospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2016 for public
companies and 2017 for non-public entities. Management is evaluating the effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award
Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period. The amendments in the ASU require that a performance target that
affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. A reporting entity should apply existing
guidance in Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect vesting to account for such awards.
The performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. Compensation cost should be recognized in the period in
which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the
requisite service has already been rendered. If the performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the
remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation
cost recognized during and after the requisite service period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those
awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the
performance target is achieved. Management is evaluating the effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

The Company does not believe that recently issued accounting pronouncements will have a material impact on its financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting estimates are those that management deems to be most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations, and
that require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, due to the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently
uncertain. We have identified our critical accounting estimates which are discussed below.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company’s significant estimates include the valuation of stock based
charges and the valuation of inventory reserves.

Accounts Receivable

The Company extends credit to its customers. Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is the Company’s best estimate for the amount of probable credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable. The Company establishes an
allowance of doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers and other information. Receivable balances are reviewed on
an aged basis and account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is
considered remote. The Company does not require collateral on accounts receivable.

Intangible Assets

Capitalized software costs incurred in the design and development of software for sale to others as a separate product or embedded in a product and sold as part
of the product as a whole are charged to expense until technological feasibility is established, and amortized on a straight-line basis over five years, beginning
when the products are offered for sale or the enhancements are integrated into the products. Management is required to use its judgment in determining whether
capitalized software costs meet the criteria for immediate expense or capitalization, in accordance with GAAP. The unamortized capitalized costs of a computer
software product are compared to the net realizable value of that product and any excess is written off.

The significant estimates and assumptions involved in determining the net realizable value of our capitalized software costs are the estimated future cash flows
from the product which are the estimated future gross revenues reduced by the estimated future costs of completing the product including the costs of
maintenance. These estimates are based upon anticipated results and trends including customer demand for the Company’s products and the necessary skill level
and man-hours needed to complete the products. The Company believes these estimates are reasonable under the current circumstances. The risk of material
misstatement of these accounting estimates varies with the subjectivity associated with these estimates; including the assumption the Company has the know-
how to create such products and the availability of relevant personnel to complete such products that customer’s desire. By their nature, estimates are subject to
an inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual results may differ from management’s estimates.

Patent and licenses are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortized on a straight line basis over their useful lives which range between 18.5 to 20 years.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the price is fixed and determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured. Revenues from management and consulting, time-and-materials service contracts, maintenance agreements and other
services are recognized as the services are provided or at the time the goods are shipped and title as passed.
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Accounting for Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

Warrants for the purchase of common stock in connection with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are carried at fair value and reported as a derivative
liability on the accompanying balance sheets. Upon certain fundamental events the warrants could be redeemed at the option of the holder at fair market value
estimated using Black Scholes. Changes in the fair value of warrants for the purchase of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are included in other income
(expense) in the statements of operations.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments

The conversion feature was bifurcated from the Series A Preferred Stock as it was not considered to be clearly and closely related to the host agreement. The
conversion feature had terms that require derivative liability classification on the accompanying balance sheet which is carried at fair value. Changes in the fair
value of Convertible Feature for the purchase of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are included in other income (expense) on the statements of
operations.

Commitments and Contingencies

Except as otherwise disclosed elsewhere in this document, we have no material commitments or contingent liabilities. The Company has an employment
contract with its CEO that would require a one-year severance payment in the event the Company terminates his services under certain circumstances.

On February 17, 2015, John Coleman resigned from his position of Chief Executive Officer effective immediately. Mr. Coleman’s resignation was not a result
of any disagreements with the Company. Mr. Coleman will stay on the xG Board and manage the governmental/expeditionary portions of the business.

In connection with this transition, on February 17, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) appointed George Schmitt, the Company’s Executive
Chairman, to the role of Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Schmitt will perform the services and duties that are normally and customarily associated with the Chief
Executive Officer position, as well as other duties as the Board reasonably determines.

Warranties and Indemnifications

The Company recognizes estimated costs related to warranty activities upon product shipment. The recorded amount will be adjusted from time to time for
specifically identified warranty exposure. Actual warranty expenses are charged against the Company’s estimated warranty liability when incurred.

We may in the future enter into standard indemnification agreements with many of our distributors and OEMs, as well as certain other business partners in the
ordinary course of business. These agreements may include provisions for indemnifying the distributor, OEM or other business partner against any claim
brought by a third party to the extent any such claim alleges that an xMax® product infringes a patent, copyright or trademark or violates any other proprietary
rights of that third party. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could
be required to make under these indemnification agreements is not estimable.

Based upon our historical experience and information known as of March 27, 2015, we do not believe it is likely that we currently have significant liability for
the above indemnities.
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We are not required to provide the information required by this Item as we are a smaller reporting company.

The Company’s audited financial statements and notes thereto appear in this report beginning on page F-1.
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None.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that material information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports filed under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and to ensure that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer), does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because
of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within our Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include, but are not limited to, the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

As of December 31, 2014, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the principal executive
officer and the principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13(a)-15
(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that as of December 31, 2014, our disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective.

Our management has previously identified a material weakness regarding inadequate accounting resources due to the need to hire accounting personnel with the
requisite knowledge of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company made progress to remedy this deficiency through the hiring of a financial
controller to support the accounting personnel. The financial controller began employment in September 2013 and has now been fully integrated into the
Company’s control process. However, due to the recent loss of accounting personnel through cost cutting measures and the need to deal with complex
accounting transactions, we believe that our disclosure controls are not effective.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
of the Exchange Act). Our company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance, regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
and that our company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions and that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple
errors. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the
control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this assessment, our
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(1992). Based on our assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on
those criteria due to the previously mentioned material weakness.

This Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.
Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm as we are a smaller reporting company and not required
to provide the report.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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None.
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PART III

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections entitled “Election of
Directors,” “Information about our Executive Officers,” “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act” and “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated
by reference.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section entitled “Executive
Compensation” and “Director Compensation for Fiscal 2014” and is incorporated by reference.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section entitled “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” and is incorporated by
reference.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections entitled “Related
Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated by reference.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section entitled “Auditor
Fees” and is incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The audited balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2014 and, 2013, the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash
flows for the years then ended, the footnotes thereto, and the report of Friedman LLP, independent auditors, are filed herewith.

None.

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or
notes hereto.

The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Report.

Certain of the agreements filed as exhibits to this Report contain representations and warranties by the parties to the agreements that have been made solely for
the benefit of the parties to the agreement. These representations and warranties:

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date that these representations and warranties were made
or at any other time. Investors should not rely on them as statements of fact.
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(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) Financial Statements:

(2) Financial Schedules:

(3) Exhibits:

(b) The following are exhibits to this Report and, if incorporated by reference, we have indicated the document previously filed with the SEC in which the
exhibit was included.

• may have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other parties in connection with the negotiation of the agreements, which disclosures are
not necessarily reflected in the agreements;

• may apply standards of materiality that differ from those of a reasonable investor; and
• were made only as of specified dates contained in the agreements and are subject to subsequent developments and changed circumstances.

45



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

3.1(i) Amended & Restated Certificate of Incorporation (1)

3.1(i)(a) Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation filed June 11, 2014(2)

3.1(i)(b) Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. (9)

3.1(i)(c) Certificate of Designations of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. (10)

3.1(i)(d) Certificate of Designations of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock. (11)

3.1(ii) Amended & Restated Bylaws (2)

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (3)

4.2 Form of Warrant Agreement by and between the Registrant and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and Form of 
Warrant Certificate for the offering closed July 24, 2013 and August 19, 2013 (4)

4.3 Form of Underwriters’ Warrant for the offering closed July 24, 2013 (1)

4.4 Form of Underwriters’ Warrant for the offering closed November 18, 2013 (5)

4.5 Form of Warrant issued in December 30, 2014 Offering. (9)

4.6 Form of Warrant issued in February 11, 2015 Offering. (10)

4.7 Form of Warrant issued in February 24, 2015 Offering. (11)

10.1 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (6)

10.2 Forms of Agreement Under 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (6)

10.3 Loan Documents Between xG Technology and MB Technology Holdings, LLC (6)

10.4 Form of Securities Subscription Agreement (6)

10.5 Form of Bridge Loan Documents (6)

10.6 2004 Option Plan (6)

10.7 2005 Option Plan (6)

10.8 2006 Option Plan (6)

10.9 2007 Option Plan (6)

10.10 2009 Option Plan (6)

10.11 Forms of Award Documents under 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2009 Option Plans (6)

10.12 Sunrise Office Lease (6)

10.13 Treco Documents (6)

10.14 Mats Wennberg Consulting Agreement (6)

10.15 Mats Wennberg Warrant Agreement (6)

10.16 MBC Agreement (6)

10.17 Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 22, 2014, by and between the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC. 
(7)

10.18 Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2014, by and between the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC. 
(7)

10.19 Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2014, by and between the Company, Lincoln Park and other investors (8)

10.20 Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2014, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (9)

10.21 Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2015, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (10)

10.22 Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2014, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (11)
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In accordance with SEC Release 33-8238, Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are being furnished and not filed.
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit
14.1 Code of Ethics (12)

23.1 Consent of Friedman LLP
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase

(1) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1 with the SEC on October 23, 2013.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on June 13, 2014.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit on Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC on August 30, 2013.
(3) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1/A with the SEC on May 21, 2013.
(4) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report to Form 8-K with the SEC on August 19, 2013.
(5) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1/A with the SEC on November 6, 2013.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1 with the SEC on March 7, 2013.
(7) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on September 24, 2014.
(8) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on November 26, 2014.
(9) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on December 31, 2014.
(10) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on February 12, 2015.
(11) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on February 26, 2015.
(12) Filed as an Exhibit on Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC on March 6, 2014.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /s/ George Schmitt
George Schmitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Duly Authorized Officer and
Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Roger G. Branton
Roger G. Branton
Chief Financial Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer and
Principal Financial Officer)

Signature Title Date

/s/ George Schmitt Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board March 31, 2015
George Schmitt (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Roger G. Branton Chief Financial Officer March 31, 2015
Roger G. Branton (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ John C. Coleman Director March 31, 2015
John C. Coleman

/s/ Richard L. Mooers Director March 31, 2015
Richard L. Mooers

/s/ Gary Cuccio Director March 31, 2015
Gary Cuccio

/s/ Raymond M. Sidney Director March 31, 2015
Raymond M. Sidney

/s/ Kenneth Hoffman Director March 31, 2015
Kenneth Hoffman

/s/ James T. Conway Director March 31, 2015
James T. Conway
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of xG Technology, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of xG Technology, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related statements of income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2014. xG Technology, Inc.’s management is responsible for
these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The company is not required
to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of xG Technology, Inc. as of December
31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the
financial statements, the Company has recurring losses. These conditions raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s
plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial statements do not include and adjustments relating to the recoverability and
classification of assets carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern.

/s/ FRIEDMAN LLP
East Hanover, New Jersey
March 31, 2015
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

* Less than $1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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December 31,
2014 2013

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash $ 758 $ 5,517
Inventory, net 4,070 2,916
Accounts Receivable, net of allowance of $30 and $16 ($480 and $470 from related party, net of allowance of $10 

and $10) 702 788
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 411 49
Due from related party — 1,350

Total current assets 5,941 10,620
Property and equipment, net 816 806
Intangible assets, net 16,382 18,196

Total assets $ 23,139 $ 29,622
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 868 $ 1,841
Accrued expenses 511 772
Accrued bonuses — 298
Accrued interest 42 42
Due to related parties 2,110 1,526
Deferred revenue ($480 and $480 from related party) 480 480
Obligation under capital lease 123 129
Derivative liabilities 270 —

Total current liabilities 4,404 5,088
Long-term obligation under capital lease — 118
Convertible note payable 2,000 2,000

Total liabilities 6,404 7,206
Commitments and contingencies
Series A convertible preferred stock – $0.00001 par value per share:

3,000,000 and 0 shares authorized at December 31, 2014 and 2013; 750,000 and 0 issued or outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (liquidation preference of $750,100 at December 31, 2014) 378 —
Total convertible preferred stock 378 —

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Preferred stock – $0.00001 par value per share:

7,000,000 and 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2014 and 2013; none issued or outstanding as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 — —

Common stock, – $0.00001 par value, 100,000,000 and 300,000,000 shares authorized, 26,176,153 and 18,682,310 
shares issued as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively *— *—
Additional paid in capital 186,919 174,000
Accumulated deficit (170,540) (151,562)
Treasury stock, at cost – 2,284 shares as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively (22) (22)

Total stockholder’s equity 16,357 22,416
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 23,139 $ 29,622
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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For the Year Ended 
December 31,

2014 2013
Revenue $ 628 $ 406
Cost of revenue and operating expenses

Cost of components and personnel 156 102
General and administrative expenses 7,618 5,501
Development 7,597 5,468
Stock based compensation 625 796
Amortization and depreciation 3,871 2,370

Total cost of revenue and operating expenses 19,867 14,237
Loss from operations (19,239) (13,831)

Other income (expense)
Other income 440 —
Other expense — (10,068)
Inducement expense — (391)
Interest expense, net (179) (2,227)
Impairment — (933)

Total other income (expense) 261 (13,619)
Loss before income tax provision (18,978) (27,450)

Income tax provision — —
Net loss $ (18,978) $ (27,450)
Dividends *— —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders (18,978) (27,450)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.83) (2.86)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic and diluted 22,847 9,598

* Less than $1
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Common Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Shares Amount
Balance, January 1, 2013 6,041,946 $ —* $ 118,247 $ (22) $ (124,112) $ (5,887)
Net loss — — — — (27,450) (27,450)
Stock based compensation — — 796 — — 796
Compensation granted in stock 15,242 —* 94 — — 94
Issuance of stock in exchange for payment of interest on 

convertible debt 41,672 —* 180 — — 180
Conversion of 2011 Convertible Note Payable Principal 

Balance 1,127,820 —* 15,000 — — 15,000
Issuance of stock for inducement of 2011 Convertible note 

payable 159,330 —* — — — —
Issuance of stock for conversion of Bridge Loan and 

extinguishment 2,187,529 —* 11,480 — — 11,480
Issuance of Warrants – conversion of bridge loan — — 392 — — 392
Issuance of warrants for the Bridge Loan and 

extinguishment — — 401 — — 401
Issuance of shares and warrants – IPO 1,337,792 —* 6,751 — — 6,751
Issuance of shares and warrants – IPO over-allotment 200,668 —* 1,027 — — 1,027
Issuance of – shares, warrants, and modification of options 

for one-time agreement with MBTH 1,599,453 —* 10,067 — — 10,067
Issuance of shares and warrants – secondary offering 5,715,000 —* 9,147 — — 9,147
Issuance of stock – secondary offering exercise of over-

allotment 255,000 —* 415 — — 415
Issuance of stock from exercise of warrants 858 —* 3 — — 3
Balance, December 31, 2013 18,682,310 $ —* $ 174,000 $ (22) $ (151,562) $ 22,416

* Less than $1
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Common Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Shares Amount
Balance, January 1, 2014 18,682,310 $ —* $ 174,000 $ (22) $ (151,562) $ 22,416
Net loss — — — — (18,978) (18,978)
Stock based compensation — — 625 — — 625
Compensation granted in stock 145,597 —* 307 — — 307
Issuance of stock as payment of 2011 and 2012 bonus 148,867 —* 272 — — 272
Issuance of stock in exchange for payment of interest on 

convertible debt 84,653 —* 180 — — 180
Issuance of stock – third offering 5,265,000 —* 8,816 — — 8,816
Issuance of stock – 15 million purchase agreement 275,000 —* 439 — — 439
Issuance of stock – 1 million purchase agreement 500,000 —* 961 — — 961
Issuance of stock – S-3 financing 1,041,584 —* 1,302 — — 1,302
Issuance of stock to financing agent – Series A financing 33,142 —* 17 — — 17
Balance, December 31, 2014 26,176,153 $ —* $ 186,919 $ (22) $ (170,540) $ 16,357

* Less than $1

F-6



xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Year Ended 
December 31,

2014 2013
Cash flows used in operating activities

Net loss $ (18,978) $ (27,450)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Stock based compensation 625 796
Share-based consulting and other services 307 94
Allowance for doubtful accounts 14 16
Bad debt write-off 257 —
Inventory reserve 200 —
Gain from non-monetary exchange (65) —
Depreciation and amortization 3,871 2,370
Impairment — 933
Accretion of financing instruments — 176
Inducement expense — 391
Other expense — 10,067
Other income (440) —
Non-cash interest expense — 601
Reversal of accrued bonus expense (25) (2,335)
Inventory write-off 159 —

Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (185) (804)
Inventory (1,676) (2,621)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3) 293
Accounts payable (973) 1,186
Accrued expenses 359 21
Accrued interest and fees — 1,300
Deferred revenue – related party — 480
Due to related parties 1,934 91

Net cash used in operating activities (14,619) (14,395)

Cash flows used in investing activities
Capital expenditures for property and equipment (134) (294)
Capitalization of intangible assets (1,771) (2,602)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,905) (2,896)

Cash flows provided by financing activities
Repayment of capital lease (123) (123)
Proceeds from convertible notes payable — 450
Proceeds from convertible bridge loan payable ($2,727 to related party) — 4,994
Repayment of convertible bridge loan payable — (125)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 11,224 17,340
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs 664 —
Proceeds from issuance of warrants — 1

Net cash provided by financing activities 11,765 22,537
Net (decrease) increase in cash (4,759) 5,246
Cash, beginning of year 5,517 271
Cash, end of year $ 758 $ 5,517

F-7



xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – (continued)
(IN THOUSANDS)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Year Ended 
December 31,

2014 2013
Supplemental cash flow disclosures of investing and financing activities

Stock issued as payment of fees under the $15M purchase agreement $ 294 $ —
Stock issued as payment of bonus 272 —
Derivative liability in connection with conversion option and warrants 270 —
Stock issued as payment for interest on convertible note 180 180
Reclassification of inventory to fixed asset 163 —
Reclassification of fixed asset to inventory — 293
Stock issued as payment of fees on convertible preferred stock 17 —
Conversion of note payable — 15,000
Conversion of convertible bridge loan payable including interest and fees — 9,023
Interest and fees refinanced under the bridge loan — 5,408
Due to related party refinanced under the bridge loan — 1,393
Related party amount refinanced under the bridge loan — 1,013
Capital lease obligation for property and equipment — 370
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Description of Business

xG Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation that has developed a broad portfolio of innovative intellectual property that we believe will
enhance wireless communications. The Company’s intellectual property is embedded in proprietary software algorithms designed to offer cognitive interference
mitigation and spectrum access solutions to organizations in a wide variety of industries, including national defense and rural broadband, which represent the
primary vertical markets that the Company is initially targeting.

2 — GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles which contemplate continuation of the Company as a
going concern. At December 31, 2014, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $170.5 million and a net loss of approximately $19.0 for year then ended. On
March 1, 2015, the Company announced that it implemented cost reduction initiatives that included a decrease in the Company’s workforce and other expense
reductions which should decrease the monthly cash burn. As of the date of this filing, the Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to fund operations through
May 2015. To date, the Company is experiencing long sales cycles in the areas that have potential for near term revenue, most notably, in the first responder,
public safety, military and rural telco markets. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The ability to recognize revenue and ultimately cash receipts is contingent upon, but not limited to, acceptable performance of the delivered equipment and
services. If the Company is unable to raise additional capital and or close on some of its revenue producing opportunities in the near term, the carrying value its
assets may be impacted and it may be material. The financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recovery and classification of asset
carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Table of Contents
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

Concentrations of Credit Risk for Cash

The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and account receivables. The Company’s
policy is to maintain its cash with high credit quality financial institutions to limit its risk of loss exposure. During the year, the Company had cash balances in
excess of the federally insured limits of $250,000. The funds are on deposit with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. Consequently, the Company does not believe that
there is a significant risk having these balances in one financial institution. The Company has not experienced any losses in its bank accounts through December
31, 2014. For customers, management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.

Inventory

Inventories, consisting principally of raw materials and finished goods, are carried at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method. Raw materials consist of purchased parts, components and supplies. The Company evaluates inventory balances and adjusts inventory to the
lower of cost or market based upon anticipated usage of the inventory and the potential for obsolescence.

Intangible Assets

Capitalized software costs incurred in the research, design and development of software for sale to others as a separate product or embedded in a product and
sold as part of the product as a whole are charged to expense until technological feasibility is established and amortized on a straight-line basis over five years,
beginning when the products are offered for sale or the enhancements are integrated into the products. Management is required to use its judgment in
determining whether capitalized software costs meet the criteria for immediate expense or capitalization, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“GAAP”). The unamortized capitalized costs of a computer software product are compared to the net realizable value of that product and any excess
is written off.

The Company’s proprietary software solutions operate in a fast changing industry that may generate unknown methods of detecting and monitoring disturbances
that could render our technology inferior, resulting in the Company’s results of operations being materially adversely affected. The Company does, however,
closely monitor trends and changes in technologies and customer demand that could adversely impact its competitiveness and overall success. It is reasonably
possible that those estimates of anticipated future gross revenues, the remaining estimated economic life of the product, or both will be reduced significantly in
the near term due to competitive pressures. As a result, the carrying amount of the capitalized software costs for the Company’s products may be reduced
materially in the near term.

Costs incurred for product enhancements are charged to expense as research and development until the technological feasibility of the enhancement has been
established. These enhancements are amortized on a straight line basis over the useful life of the product enhancement which is currently estimated to be five
years beginning when the enhancements are integrated into the products that are offered for sale.

The Company’s software is inherently complex and may contain defects and errors that are only detectable when the products are in use. Such defects or errors
could have a serious impact on our end customers, which could damage our reputation, harm our customer relationships and expose the Company to liability.
Defects in the Company’s software could adversely affect our ability and that of our customers to ship products on a timely basis as well as customer or licensee
demand for our products. Any such delays or declines in demand could reduce the Company’s revenues and harm our ability to achieve or
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

sustain desired levels of profitability. The Company and its customers may also experience component or software failures or defects that could require
significant product recalls, rework and/or repairs that are not covered by warranty reserves. In 2014, the Company began developing a new product, the CN3200
Dual Band Routing Modem (‘‘CN3200’’), formerly known as the xRM modem. On September 30, 2014, the Company received certification from the U.S.
Federal Communications Commission in connection with the CN3200. Intellectual property is embedded in proprietary software algorithms that offer cognitive
spectrum access and interference mitigation solutions.

Patents and licenses are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortized on a straight line basis over their useful lives which range between 18.5 to 20
years.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are presented at cost at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful
asset lives, which range from 3 to 7 years commencing the month following the purchase.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long lived assets including certain intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to the undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by that asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.
Impairment of intangible assets amounted to $0 and $37,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Impairment of property and
equipment amounted to $0 and $896,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

In the event that management determines that a receivable becomes uncollectible, or events or circumstances change, which result in a temporary cessation of
payments from the customer, the Company will make a best estimate of probable or potential losses in accounts receivable balance using the allowance method
for each quarterly period. Management will periodically review the receivables at the end of each quarterly reporting period and the appropriate accrual will be
made based on current available evidence and historical experience. Allowance for doubtful accounts were $30,000 and $16,000 for the years ended December
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company wrote off $257,000 and $0 of accounts receivable to bad debt expense for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the price is fixed and determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured. Revenues from management and consulting, time-and-materials service contracts, maintenance agreements and other
services are recognized as the services are provided or at the time the goods are shipped and title as passed.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

Development Expenses

Development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for technical and programming personnel, are expensed as incurred and were $7,597,000
and $5,468,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Accounting for Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

Warrants for the purchase of common stock in connection with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are carried at fair value and reported as a derivative
liability on the accompanying balance sheets. Upon certain fundamental events the warrants could be redeemed at the option of the holder at fair market value
estimated using Black Scholes. Changes in the fair value of warrants for the purchase of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are included in other income
(expense) in the statements of operations.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments

The conversion feature was bifurcated from the Series A Preferred Stock as it was not considered to be clearly and closely related to the host agreement. The
conversion feature had terms that require derivative liability classification on the balance sheet which is carried at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
Convertible Feature for the purchase of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are included in other income (expense) on the statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the assets and liability method. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in the tax rate is recognized in income or expense in the period that the
change is effective. Tax benefits are recognized when it is probable that the deduction will be sustained. A valuation allowance is established when it is more
likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company files a U.S. federal and state income tax return. The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on the two-step process
prescribed by GAAP. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step requires the
Company to estimate and measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company
reevaluates these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances,
changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit, and new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of
a tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision in the period. The Company recognizes interest and penalties as incurred in finance income (expense),
net in the Statements of Operations. There were no liabilities recorded for uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees in accordance with applicable accounting principles, which requires compensation expense related
to share-based transactions, including employee stock options, to be measured and recognized in the financial statements based on a determination of the fair
value of the stock options.

The grant date fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) pricing model. For all employee stock options, the Company
recognizes expense over the employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). The Company’s option pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility, expected term, and forfeiture rate. Any changes in these highly
subjective assumptions significantly impact stock-based compensation expense.

Options awarded to purchase shares of common stock issued to non-employees in exchange for services are accounted for as variable awards in accordance with
applicable accounting principles. Such options are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Treasury Stock

Shares of common stock repurchased are recorded at cost as treasury stock. When shares are reissued, the cost method is used for determining cost. In
accordance with GAAP, the excess of the acquisition cost over the reissuance price of the treasury stock, if any, is recorded to additional paid-in capital, limited
to the amount previously credited to additional paid-in capital, if any. Any excess is charged to accumulated deficit.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share amounts are based on weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share amounts are based
on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, plus the incremental shares that would have been outstanding upon the assumed exercise of all
potentially dilutive stock options, warrants and convertible stock, subject to anti-dilution limitations. All such potentially dilutive instruments were anti-dilutive
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. At December 31, 2014 and 2013 approximately 6.95 million and 5.29 million shares underlying the convertible debentures,
options and warrants were anti-dilutive.

Warranty Reserve

Although the Company tests its product in accordance with its quality programs and processes, its warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and
service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure. Should actual product failure rates or service costs differ from the Company’s estimates, which
are based on limited historical data, where applicable, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required. The warranty reserve for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $9,000 and $8,000, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosing the fair value of financial instruments to the extent practicable for financial instruments which are
recognized or unrecognized in the balance sheet. The fair value of the financial instruments disclosed herein is not necessarily representative of the amount that
could be realized or settled, nor does the fair value amount consider the tax consequences of realization or settlement.

In assessing the fair value of financial instruments, the Company uses a variety of methods and assumptions, which are based on estimates of market conditions
and risks existing at the time. For certain instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses, it was
estimated that the carrying amount approximated fair value because of the short maturities of these instruments. All debt is based on current rates at which the
Company could borrow funds with similar remaining maturities and approximates fair value.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

GAAP establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use on unobservable inputs
by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s
assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances. The hierarchy is described below:

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2014, consistent with the
fair value hierarchy provisions:

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2013, consistent with the
fair value hierarchy provisions:
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Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets for

Identical Assets/Liabilities
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3) Carrying Amount
Assets:

Cash $ 758,000 $ — $ — $ 758,000
Liabilities:

Convertible note payable $ — $ 29,000 $ — $ 2,000,000
Preferred stock -conversion feature $ — $ — $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Preferred stock -warrants $ — $ — $ 120,000 $ 120,000

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets for

Identical Assets/Liabilities
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3) Carrying Amount
Assets:

Cash $ 5,517,000 $ — $ — $ 5,517,000
Liabilities:

Convertible note payable $ — $ 90,000 $ — $ 2,000,000
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  – (continued)

Recently Issued Accounting Principles

We are an ‘‘emerging growth company’’ as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth
company for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue exceed $1 billion, (ii) the date that
we become a ‘‘large accelerated filer’’ as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter or (iii) the date on which we have
issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year period. Pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, we have elected to utilize
the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers: Topic 606. This update affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the
transfer of nonfinancial assets, unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards. The guidance in this update supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition and most industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize
revenue to illustrate the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will provide users of financial statements
with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a reporting organization’s contracts
with customers. This ASU is effective retrospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2016 for public
companies and 2017 for non-public entities. Management is evaluating the effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award
Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period. The amendments in the ASU require that a performance target that
affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. A reporting entity should apply existing
guidance in Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect vesting to account for such awards.
The performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. Compensation cost should be recognized in the period in
which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the
requisite service has already been rendered. If the performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the
remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation
cost recognized during and after the requisite service period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those
awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the
performance target is achieved. Management is evaluating the effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 — INVENTORY

Inventories included in the accompanying balance sheet are stated at the lower of cost or market as summarized below:

Based upon the Company’s analysis of the lower of cost or market, the Company recorded a reserve for inventory of $200,000 and $0 as of December 31, 2014
and 2013. The Company wrote-off $159,000 and $0 of inventory for the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

5 — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

The Company wrote off $257,000 and $0 of accounts receivable to bad debt expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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December 31, 
2014

December 31, 
2013

Raw materials consisting of purchased parts, components and supplies $ 2,084,000 $ 2,461,000
Finished goods 2,186,000 455,000
Sub-total inventories 4,270,000 2,916,000

Less inventory reserve (200,000) —
Total inventory – net $ 4,070,000 $ 2,916,000

December 31,
2014

December 31, 
2013

Accounts receivable $ 252,000 $ 324,000
Accounts receivable – related party (see note 17) 480,000 480,000

732,000 804,000
Net allowance for doubtful accounts (30,000) (16,000)
Net accounts receivable $ 702,000 $ 788,000
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:

Depreciation of property and equipment amounted to $287,000 and $393,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company
reclassified inventory totaling $163,000 into equipment in 2014.

Impairment of property and equipment amounted to $0 and $896,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The impairment charge of
$896,000 in 2013 was related to hardware with a cost of $2,193,000 and an accumulated depreciation of $1,297,000.

7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following:

Amortization of intangible assets amounted to $3,584,000 and $1,977,000 for 2014 and 2013, respectively. The total cost basis of intangible assets at December
31, 2014 was $28.8 million which consists of $26.9 million of costs that are subject to amortization at December 31, 2014 and $1.9 million of assets that are not
subject to amortization at December 31, 2014.

Software Development Costs:

At December 31, 2014 the Company has capitalized a total of $16.5 million of software development costs. Included in the capitalized costs is $1.8 million of
costs associated with enhancement of the xMax cognitive radio products. These costs are not being amortized considering that the enhancement is not yet
incorporated in products and available for sale. The Company recognized amortization of software development costs available for sale of $2.9 million and $1.3
million in 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Useful Life
(years) December 31,

2014 2013
Cost:
Furniture and equipment 3 – 7 years $ 2,930,000 $ 2,633,000
Accumulated depreciation (2,114,000) (1,827,000)
Property and equipment, net $ 816,000 $ 806,000

Software Development Costs Patents & Licenses
Cost A.A. Cost A.A. Total

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 12,226,000 $ (1,261,000) $ 12,272,000 $ (5,629,000) $ 17,608,000
Additions 2,562,000 — 39,000 — 2,601,000
Impairments — — (36,000) — (36,000)
Amortization — (1,313,000) — (664,000) (1,977,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 14,788,000 $ (2,574,000) $ 12,275,000 $ (6,293,000) $ 18,196,000
Additions 1,667,000 — 103,000 — 1,770,000
Impairments — — — — —
Amortization — (2,920,000) — (664,000) (3,584,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 16,455,000 $ (5,494,000) $ 12,378,000 $ (6,957,000) $ 16,382,000
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS  – (continued)

Patents & Licenses:

At December 31, 2014 the Company has capitalized a total of $12.4 million of patents & licenses. Included in the capitalized costs is $12.3 million of costs
associated with patents and licenses that have been filed. Also included in the capitalized costs is $0.1 million of costs associated with provisional patents and
pending applications which have not yet been filed. The Company amortizes patents and licenses that have been filed over their useful lives which range
between 18.5 to 20 years. The costs of provisional patents and pending applications is not amortized until the patent is filed and is reviewed each reporting
period to determine if it is likely that the patent will be successfully filed. The Company recognized $0.7 million of amortization expense related to patents and
licenses in each of the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Estimated amortization expense for the succeeding five years is as follows:

8 — OBLIGATION UNDER CAPITAL LEASE

The future minimum payments for capital leases as at December 31, 2014 are as follows:

The interest rate on the capital lease agreement is 4% annually.
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2015 $ 3,589,000
2016 3,037,000
2017 2,980,000
2018 2,179,000
2019 and thereafter 2,679,000

$ 14,464,000

2015 $ 125,500
Total minimum lease payments 125,500
Less amount representing interest (2,500)
Present value of the net minimum lease payments 123,000
Less obligations under capital lease maturing within one year 123,000
Long-term portion of obligations under capital lease $ —
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 — CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE

Treco

On October 6, 2011, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note (the “$2 Million Convertible Note”) in favor of Treco International, S.A.
(“Treco”), as part of the settlement compensation to Treco for terminating the infrastructure agreement. The $2 Million Convertible Note is payable on final
maturity, October 6, 2018 and is convertible, at Treco’s option, into common shares of the Company at a price of $35.00 per share. Interest at the rate of 9% per
year is payable semi-annually in cash or shares, at the Company’s option. As of December 31, 2014, $2 million of principal balance was outstanding under the
$2 million Convertible Note. The accrued interest was $42,329 and $42,329 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. On May 7, 2014, the Company
issued 34,091 shares in repayment of $90,000 of interest. On November 5, 2014, the Company issued 50,562 shares in repayment of $90,000 of interest.

10 — INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

There were no uncertain tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return that would be determined to be an unrecognized tax benefit taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return that should have been recorded on the Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2014 or 2013.
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December 31,
2014 2013

Current tax provision
Federal $ — $ —
State — —

— —
Deferred tax provision

Federal — —
State — —

— —
Income tax provision $ — $ —

December 31,
2014 2013

Statutory Federal income tax rate 35% 35%
State and local taxes net of Federal benefit 5.50% 5.50%
Permanent differences (1.90)% (1.24)%
Valuation allowance (38.60)% (39.26)%
Effective tax rate 0% 0%
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 — INCOME TAXES  – (continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial accounting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax reporting. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

Net operating losses (“NOL”) of approximately $132.4 million will expire beginning in 2027 for federal and state purposes. The Company also has research and
development credits of approximately $1.9 million which will begin to expire in 2027.

Realization of the NOL carry forwards and other deferred tax temporary differences is contingent on future taxable earnings. The Company’s deferred tax asset
was reviewed for expected utilization using a “more likely than not” approach by assessing the available positive and negative evidence surrounding its
recoverability. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been recorded against the Company’s deferred tax asset, as it was determined based upon past and
present losses that it was “more likely than not” that the Company’s deferred tax assets would not be realized. The valuation allowance was increased to the full
carrying amount of the Company’s deferred tax assets. In future years, if the deferred tax assets are determined by management to be “more likely than not” to
be realized, the recognized tax benefits relating to the reversal of the valuation allowance as of December 31, 2014 will be recorded. The Company will continue
to assess and evaluate strategies that will enable the deferred tax asset, or portion thereof, to be utilized, and will reduce the valuation allowance appropriately as
such time when it is determined that the “more likely than not” criteria is satisfied. The federal and state tax returns for the years ending December 31, 2011,
2012 and 2013 are currently open.
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December 31,
2014 2013

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carry forwards $ 53,634,000 $ 48,122,000
Research and development tax credit carry forwards 1,869,000 1,207,000
Change in fair value of options and warrants — —
Accrued expenses — 96,000

Total deferred tax asset 55,503,000 49,425,000
Valuation allowance (55,503,000) (49,425,000)

$ — $ —
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 — DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock - Conversion Option

On December 30, 2014, the Company entered into a purchase agreement pursuant to which the Company sold to 31 Group, 750,000 of the Company’s Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”). The Preferred Stock are convertible, in whole or in part, at a conversion price equal to the lower of (i)
$2.00 or (ii) 85% of the average of the five (5) lowest volume weighted average prices of the common stock during the twenty (20) consecutive trading day
period ending the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable conversion notice. The conversion feature was bifurcated from the Preferred
Stock as it was not considered to be clearly and closely related to the host agreement and is accounted for as a derivative liability.

Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In connection with the issuance of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to 375,000 shares of Common Stock (the
“Warrants”). The Warrants have an exercise price of $2.00 per share (the “Exercise Price”). Warrants covering up to 375,000 shares of Common Stock are
exercisable at any time on or before December 31, 2019. The Warrants are accounted for as derivative liability as they can be redeemed by the holder for fair
market value upon certain fundamental transactions.

The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 derivative liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2014:

These instruments were valued using pricing models that incorporate the price of a share of Common Stock, volatility, risk free rate, dividend rate and estimated
life. The Company computed the fair value using the Black-Scholes model as of December 30, 2014. There was no change in fair value of the instruments at
December 31, 2014.

The following are the key assumptions used in connection with the valuation of the conversion option on the date of issuance and at December 31, 2014:
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Balance at beginning of year $ -
Additions to conversion option derivative liability at December 30, 2014 150,000
Additions to warrant derivative liability at December 30, 2014 120,000
Change in fair market value of the derivative liabilities -
Balance at end of year $ 270,000

Number of shares convertible into 750,000
Fair market value of stock $ 0.51
Conversion Price $ 0.57
Volatility 131%
Risk-free interest rate 0.13%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Life of Convertible Preferred Stock (year) 1
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 — DERIVATIVE LIABILITY  – (continued)

The risk-free rate is based on the rate for the U.S. Treasury note over the expected terms. The expected term is the full term of the warrant and preferred stock.
Expected volatility is based on the average of the weekly share price changes over the shorter of the expected term or the period from the placement on London
Stock Exchange’s AIM Market to the date of the grant.
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Number of shares underlying the Warrants 375,000
Fair market value of stock $ 0.51
Exercise Price $ 2.00
Volatility 112.9%
Risk-free interest rate 0.96%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Warrant life (years) 5
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 — PREFERRED STOCK

In March 2013, by approval of the majority of the shareholders, the Company was authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of “Blank Check” preferred stock, par
value $0.00001 per share. On December 30, 2014, 3,000,000 shares were designated as authorized Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On December 30, 2014, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with 31 Group, LLC (“31 Group”) pursuant to
which the Company sold to 31 Group, for a purchase price of $750,000, 750,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share
(the “Series A Preferred Stock”) and warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase 375,000 shares of common stock. The Company also issued to 31 Group 33,142
shares of common stock in consideration of 31 Group’s execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The offer and sale of
the Series A Preferred Stock, the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were made pursuant to
the Shelf Registration Statement.

The Warrants are exercisable immediately for a period of five years from their issue date. The exercise price with respect to the warrants is $2.00 per share. The
exercise price for the warrants is subject to adjustment upon certain events, such as stock splits, combinations, dividends, distributions, reclassifications,
mergers or other corporate change and dilutive issuances. Upon certain fundamental events, the warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at
fair market value estimated using Black Scholes.

Holder Optional Redemption after Maturity Date

At any time from and after the tenth business day prior to the maturity date, December 30, 2015, any holder may require the Company to redeem all or any 
number of Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder at a purchase price equal to 105% of the conversion amount.

Ranking

The Series A Preferred Stock will rank with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon distributions, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company
senior to all of the Company’s common stock and other classes of capital stock, unless the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred
Stock consent to the creation of parity stock or senior preferred stock.

Liquidation Preference of Series A Preferred Stock

Upon the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, before the payment of any amount to the holder of shares of junior
stock, but pari passu with any parity stock, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive an amount equal to the greater of (i) the stated value of
the Series A Preferred Stock or (ii) the amount the holder of Series A Preferred Stock would receive if such holder converted the Series A Preferred Stock into
common stock immediately prior to the date of the liquidation event, including accrued and unpaid dividends.

Dividends on Series A Preferred Stock

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive from the first date of issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock cumulative dividends at a rate of
7.0% per annum on a compounded basis. The Company shall have the right to pay dividends in cash or shares of common stock on the Maturity Date or in cash
on any applicable redemption date or, with respect to Series A Preferred Stock subject to conversion into common stock, as part of the conversion amount.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 — PREFERRED STOCK – (continued)

Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock

Upon the occurrence of certain triggering events as defined in the certificate of designation, the holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to require
the Company, by written notice, to redeem all or any of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock at a price equal to the greater of (i) 125% of the conversion
amount to be redeemed and (ii) the product of (a) the conversion amount divided by 85% of the average of the five (5) lowest volume weighted average prices
of the common stock during the twenty (20) consecutive trading day period ending the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable
conversion notice multiplied by (b) 125% of the greatest closing sale price of the common stock on any trading day during the period commencing on the date
immediately preceding such triggering event and ending on the date the Company makes the entire redemption payment to the holder of Series A Preferred
Stock.

Upon the occurrence of a change in control of the Company, a holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the Company to redeem all or
any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock at a price equal to 125% of the stated value of the Series A Preferred Stock. In addition, so long as certain conditions
do not exist (including the Company shall have timely delivered any Common Stock upon the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock), then the Company
shall have the right to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Preferred Stock outstanding in cash at a price equal to the sum of (i) 125% of the stated
value of the Series A Preferred Stock and (ii) all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon.

At any time from and after the tenth (10) business day prior to the date of maturity, a holder of the Series A Preferred Stock may require the Company to redeem 
all or any number of Series A Preferred Stock shares held by such holder at a purchase price equal to 105% of the conversion amount of such Series A Preferred 
Stock shares.

Conversion Rights of Preferred Stock

A holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have the right to convert the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, upon written notice to the Company at a
conversion price equal to the lower of (i) $2.00 or (ii) 85% of the average of the five (5) lowest volume weighted average prices of the Common Stock during
the twenty (20) consecutive trading day period ending the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable conversion notice (as adjusted for
stock splits, share combinations and similar transactions).
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 — PREFERRED STOCK – (continued)

Fundamental Transaction

The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to not enter into a “fundamental transaction” unless the successor entity assumes the obligations of
the Company under the Certificate of Designations and the successor entity (including its parent entity) is a publicly traded company whose shares of common
stock are quoted or listed on an eligible national securities exchange. Upon a change of control of the Company, a holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall have
the right to require the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock at the applicable premium redemption price. A fundamental
transaction is a transaction in which (i) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions, (a) consolidates or merges with or into any other
entity (except where the Company is the surviving entity), (b) sells, leases, licenses, assigns, transfers, conveys or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of
its properties or assets to any other entity, (c) allows any other entity to make a purchase, tender or exchange offer that is accepted by such holders of more than
50% of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company (not including any shares of voting stock of the Company held by the entity making or party to,
or associated or affiliated with the entity making or party to, such purchase, tender or exchange offer), or (d) consummates a stock or share purchase agreement
or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off or scheme of arrangement) with any other entity
whereby such other entity acquires more than 50% of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company (not including any shares of voting stock of the
Company held by the other entity making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the other entity making or party to, such stock or share purchase agreement
or other business combination), or (e) reorganizes, recapitalizes or reclassifies the Common Stock (which shall not include a reverse stock split), or (ii) any
“person” or “group” (as these terms are used for purposes of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) is or shall become the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or
indirectly, of 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by issued and outstanding voting stock of the Company.

Voting Rights

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 — EQUITY

April 2014 Offering

On April 22, 2014, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 5,265,000 shares of common stock, , at a purchase price to the public of $1.90 per
share, for net proceeds to the Company, after deducting underwriter discounts and offering expenses, of $8,816,000. Roth Capital Partners and Feltl and
Company acted as underwriters for the offering.

Reduction in Authorized Shares

On June 11, 2014, the Board approved a resolution to amend the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, declaring said resolution to be advisable, and calling
for the submission of the following resolution to the shareholders to authorize the Board to decrease the number of authorized shares of common stock from
300,000,000 shares to 100,000,000 shares.

Purchase Agreements and Registration Rights Agreement with Lincoln Park

$1,000,000 Purchase Agreement

On September 22, 2014, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund( “Lincoln Park”), pursuant to which we offered
500,000 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park at a price of $2.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $961,000 net of expenses. The closing of the
transaction occurred on September 24, 2014. The Company issued the 500,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the Company’s registration statement on
Form S-3 that was declared effective on August 31, 2014 (the “Shelf registration Statement’).

$15,000,000 Purchase Agreement

On September 19, 2014, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “$15M Purchase Agreement”) and a registration rights agreement with Lincoln
Park. In consideration for entering into the transaction, the Company issued 175,000 shares of its common stock to Lincoln Park as a commitment fee upon
execution of the $15M Purchase Agreement. The Company recorded $346,000 as a prepaid expense based upon a stock price of $1.98 on the date of issuance.
Lincoln Park also agreed to purchase up to $15,000,000 of shares of common stock over the 24-month term of the $15M Purchase Agreement.

The $15M Purchase Agreement provides that, from time to time over the term of the $15M Purchase Agreement, on any business day, as often as every other
business day, and at its sole discretion, the Company may require Lincoln Park to purchase up to 100,000 shares of common stock (a “Regular Purchase”);
provided, however, that (i) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 150,000 shares of common stock provided that the closing sale price of common stock
is not below $2.00 on the purchase date, (ii) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 200,000 shares of common stock provided that the closing sale price
of common stock is not below $2.50 on the purchase date and (iii) a Regular Purchase may be increased to up to 250,000 shares of common stock provided that
the closing sale price of common stock is not below $3.00 on the purchase date; and provided, further, that the aggregate price of any Regular Purchase shall not
exceed $1,000,000. The Company may not sell any shares of its common stock as a Regular Purchase on a date in which the closing sale price of its common
stock is below $1.50. The purchase price for Regular Purchases shall be equal to the lesser of (i) the lowest sale price of common stock on the purchase date and
(ii) the average of the three (3) lowest closing sale prices of common stock during the ten (10) business days prior to the purchase date, as reported on the
NASDAQ Capital Market.
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xG TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 — EQUITY  – (continued)

The Company also has the right, at its sole discretion, to require Lincoln Park to make an accelerated purchase on the business day following the purchase date
of a Regular Purchase in an amount up to the lesser of (i) 200% of the number of shares of common stock purchased as a Regular Purchase and (ii) 30% of the
trading volume of common stock on such accelerated purchase date, provided that the closing price of common stock equals or exceeds $1.50 on such
accelerated purchase date, as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The purchase price per share of common stock for any accelerated purchase will be
equal to the lesser of (i) the closing sale price of common stock on the accelerated purchase date and (ii) 95% of the volume weighted average price of common
stock on the accelerated purchase date.

On October 3, 2014, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC to register 4,782,906 shares of the Company’s common stock for
sale to Lincoln Park under the $15M Purchase Agreement and 175,000 shares of common stock issued to Lincoln Park on September 19, 2014 as a commitment
fee. On October 20, 2014, the SEC declared this registration statement effective.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has drawn down $145,000 and issued 100,000 shares of common stock under the $15M Purchase Agreement. The
Lincoln Park prepaid expense was $294,000 as of December 31, 2014, representing a decrease of $52,000 from the initial recording of $346,000. The Company
is amortizing the prepaid balance to additional paid in capital on a straight line basis over the term of the agreement.

$1,331,500 Purchase Agreement

On November 25, 2014, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to Lincoln Park, certain officers and directors of
the Company (the “Affiliate Purchasers”) and certain other investors (the “Other Investors”) an aggregate of $1,331,500 of the Company’s common stock,. The
Company received net proceeds of $1,311,500 after deducting $20,000 in expenses associated with the purchase agreement. Pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, Lincoln Park purchased 500,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.25 per share, the Affiliate Purchasers purchased 245,984 shares
of Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.37 per share and the Other Investors purchased 295,600 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.25 per
share pursuant to the Company’s Shelf Registration Statement.

Equity Distribution Agreement with Roth Capital Partners, LLC

On November 18, 2014, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Equity Distribution Agreement”) with Roth Capital Partners, LLC (“Roth”),
pursuant to which the Company may sell from time to time up to $10,000,000 of shares of common stock (the “Shares”), through Roth (the “Offering”). The
Equity Distribution Agreement was amended on December 29, 2014 to change the amount of the Offering to up to $1,000,000. Effective February 23, 2015, the
Company terminated the Equity Distribution Agreement with Roth.

Issuance of common stock to 31 Group

On December 30, 2014, the Company issued 33,142 shares of its common stock in consideration of 31 Group’s execution and delivery of the Purchase
Agreement (See Note 12 – Series A Convertible Preferred Stock).
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Stock Options — Equity Incentive Plans:

The Company’s stock option plans provide for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to officers, directors, other key employees and
consultants. The purchase price may be paid in cash or “net settled” in shares of the Company’s common stock. In a net settlement of an option, the Company
does not require a payment of the exercise price of the option from the optionee, but reduces the number of shares of common stock issued upon the exercise of
the option by the smallest number of whole shares that has an aggregate fair market value equal to or in excess of the aggregate exercise price for the option
shares covered by the option exercised. Options generally vest over a three year period from the date of grant and expire ten years from the date of grant.

A summary of the Company’s historical stock option plan activity as of December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Under ASC 718, the weighted average fair value of options granted was $1.22 and $1.99 for options granted in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Each option is
estimated on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes model and the following assumptions (all in weighted averages):

The risk-free rate is based on the rate for the U.S. Treasury note over the expected term of the option. The expected term for employees represents the period of
time that options granted are expected to be outstanding using the simplified method, for non-employee options the expected term is the full term of the option.
Expected volatility is based on the average of the weekly share price changes over the shorter of the expected term or the period from the placement on London
Stock Exchange’s AIM Market to the date of the grant. The forfeiture rate is based on historical data related to prior option grants, as we believe such historical
data will be similar to future results.
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Plan Name Options Authorized Options Granted
Shares

Exercised
Shares

Forfeited/Expired
Options

Outstanding
2004 142,857 142,857 67,460 46,823 28,574
2005 142,857 142,857 10,000 58,572 74,285
2006 314,285 310,102 6,304 72,238 231,560
2007 28,571 25,714 — 4,285 21,429
2009 285,714 358,440 10,041 113,113 235,286
2013 906,291 413,225 — 45,550 367,675
Total 1,820,575 1,393,195 93,805 340,581 958,809

2014 2013
Exercise price $ 1.42 $ 2.43
Volatility 118% 109%
Risk-free interest rate 1.63% 1.37%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected term (years) 6 6
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A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Summary information regarding the options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Under the provisions of ASC 718, the Company recorded approximately $625,000 and $796,000 of stock based compensation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Stock based compensation for employees was approximately $305,000 and $421,000 and stock based compensation
expense for non-employees was approximately $320,000 and $375,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, there was approximately $0.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options under the
plans.

In 2014 and 2013, no options were exercised. The intrinsic value of options exercisable at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $0 and $0, respectively. The total
fair value of shares vested during 2014 and 2013 was $830,000 and $846,000, respectively.

We had approximately $0.6 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, as of
December 31, 2014, which we expect to be recognized over the next three years.
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Number of Options
(in Shares)

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
Options Outstanding January 1, 2013 700,903 $ 38.15
Granted 334,161 2.43
Exercised — —
Forfeited or Expired (52,084) 13.16
Options outstanding, December 31, 2013 982,980 28.05

Exercisable, December 31, 2013 571,261 $ 44.79
Options Outstanding, January 1, 2014 982,980 $ 28.05
Granted 107,600 1.42
Exercised — —
Forfeited or Expired (131,771) 15.87
Options outstanding, December 31, 2014 958,809 26.68

Exercisable, December 31, 2014 656,123 $ 37.60

Outstanding Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding (in

shares)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(in years)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable (in

shares)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
$1.05 – 8.05 474,610 8.41 $ 2.94 204,695 $ 4.73
8.40 – 23.80 223,074 5.06 14.74 190,303 14.74
35.00 – 70.00 235,277 1.19 68.83 235,277 68.83
122.50 – 288.75 25,848 2.02 181.98 25,848 181.98

958,809 656,123
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Deferred tax benefits recognized from the timing difference of recognizing stock based compensation expense per the financial statements compared to the
income tax return has been fully reserved for as the Company is in a net loss position. No windfall tax benefits have been recognized for the exercise of stock
options.

Warrants:

The Company has issued warrants, outside of the equity incentive plans, at exercise prices equal to or greater than market value of the Company’s common
stock at the date of issuance.

A summary of the warrant and option activity is as follows:

Summary information regarding the warrants as of December 31, 2014 is as follows:
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Number of 
Options/Warrants 

(in Shares)

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
Warrants Outstanding January 1, 2013 594,285 $ 25.90
Granted 3,652,669 6.61
Exercised (858) 0.35
Forfeited or Expired — —
Warrants Outstanding, December 31, 2013 4,246,096 6.53

Exercisable, December 31, 2013 4,246,096 $ 6.53
Warrants Outstanding, January 1, 2014 4,246,096 $ 6.53
Granted 375,000 2.00
Exercised — —
Forfeited or Expired — —
Warrants Outstanding, December 31, 2014 4,621,096 6.16

Exercisable, December 31, 2014 4,621,096 $ 6.16

Exercise Price
Number Outstanding (in

shares)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(in years)

$0.35 70,726 3.65
$2.00 375,000 5.00
$2.19 171,450 3.89
$5.50 571,428 1.13
$6.87 3,266,778 3.66
$7.87 14,286 0.28
$8.75 142,857 3.04
$35.00 8,571 2.20
Exercisable, December 31, 2014 4,621,096
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14 — RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) plan for all full–time employees who have attained the age of 21 and completed 90 days. The Company does not provide any match
for the 401(k).

15 — COMMITMENTS

The Company’s office rental, deployment sites and warehouse facilities expenses aggregated approximately $437,000 and $304,000 of which $0 and $83,000
was capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The leases will expire on different dates from 2015 through 2019. The
company also entered into contract agreements with one of its principal vendors to provide parts for production totaling $1,634,000. Total obligation of
purchasing parts under contractual agreements, minimum future annual rentals, exclusive of real estate taxes and related costs, are approximately as follows:

The Company has an employment agreement with its CEO, John Coleman, for a term of three years with automatic renewals unless terminated. Mr. Coleman’s
agreement was effective on August 1, 2011. It provides that he will receive a salary of no less than $250,000 per year, subject to annual increases as determined
by the Board. In addition, he is entitled to incentive compensation not to exceed two times his base salary. The incentive compensation is payable in shares of
common stock at the Company’s discretion. He is also entitled to participate in all other benefits that the Company may provide to other senior executives. The
agreement contains a non-compete and non-solicitation agreement.

On February 17, 2015, John Coleman resigned from his position of Chief Executive Officer effective immediately. Mr. Coleman’s resignation was not a result
of any disagreements with the Company. Mr. Coleman will stay on the xG Board and manage the governmental/expeditionary portions of the business.

In connection with this transition, on February 17, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) appointed George Schmitt, the Company’s Executive
Chairman, to the role of Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Schmitt will perform the services and duties that are normally and customarily associated with the Chief
Executive Officer position, as well as other duties as the Board reasonably determines.

16 — CONCENTRATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded sales to two customers of $204,000 (32%) and $100,000 (16%) in excess of 10% of the
Company’s total sales. The Company also recorded consulting revenue of which $200,000 (32%) came from one customer.

At December 31, 2014, approximately 97% of net accounts receivable was due from four customers broken down individually as follows; $289,000 (41%),
$190,000 (27%), $172,000 (24%) and $33,000 (5%).

During the year ended December 31, 2014, approximately 33% of the inventory purchases were derived from three vendors broken down individually as
follows; $239,000 (13%), $188,000 (10%) and $178,000 (10%).
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Year Ending December 31,
2015 $ 2,069,000
2016 217,000
2017 84,000
2018 87,000
2019 66,000

$ 2,523,000
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17 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MBTH - Due to Related Party

As of December 31, 2014, MBTH owned approximately 24% of the Company’s outstanding shares. Roger Branton, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and
George Schmitt, the Company’s Executive Chairman, are directors of MBTH, and Richard Mooers, a director of the Company, is the CEO and a director of
MBTH.

On April 29, 2014, the Company entered into a management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) with MB Technology Holdings, LLC (“MBTH”),
pursuant to which MBTH agreed to provide certain management and financial services to the Company for a monthly fee of $25,000. The Management
Agreement was effective January 1, 2014. The Company incurred fees related to the Management Agreement of $300,000 and $0, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company paid $225,000 of the fees under the Management Agreement and
the remaining $75,000 was included in due to related parties at December 31, 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, MBTH did not fund any additional liabilities on behalf of the Company under the 2011 assumption of liability
agreement with MBTH. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company repaid MBTH $280,000 for liabilities previously paid by MBTH and the
balance due to MBTH under the 2011 assumption of liability agreement was $931,000 as of December 31, 2014 which is included in due to related parties.

The Company agreed to award MBTH a 3% cash success fee if MBTH arranges financing for the Company or arranges a merger, consolidation or sale by the
Company of substantially all of the assets. On February 24, 2015, MBTH invoiced the Company for $700,000 in fees associated with equity financings through
April 16, 2014 at a rate of 3% per financing less certain discounts. The Company also accrued for an additional fee of approximately $109,000 for equity
financings between April 17, 2014 and December 31, 2014. The balance of $809,000 was recorded as an expense in general and administrative expenses and
included in due to related parties.

In December 2014, MBTH loaned the Company $50,000 for payroll related expenses. This balance was included in due to related parties.

George Schmitt- Due to Related Party

On December 30, 2014, the Company received a $245,000 loan from George Schmitt, Chairman of the Board and, effective as of February 17, 2015, Chief
Executive Officer. This amount was recorded in due to related parties.

Deferred Revenue

On October 16, 2013, the Company completed the first delivery of xMax comprehensive cognitive radio system, shipping equipment and providing engineering
services required to fulfill the $179,000 purchase order that was received from rural broadband provider Walnut Hill Telephone Company on November 26,
2012. Larry Townes is Chairman of Townes Tele-Communications, Inc., the parent company of Walnut Hill Telephone Company. Given that Larry Townes
was a director of xG Technology, at the time of the purchase order, the sale of equipment to Walnut Hill Telephone Company was, at the time it was entered
into, considered to be a related party transaction. Due to Walnut Hill Telephone Company waiting for the equipment to meet certain technical specifications, the
revenue from this transaction is considered deferred revenue as of December 31, 2014.
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17 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  – (continued)

On December 16, 2013, the Company sold xMax comprehensive cognitive radio system to Haxtun Telephone Company for $301,000 to fulfill a purchase order
that was received on November 24, 2012. Larry Townes is Chairman of Townes Tele-Communications, Inc., the parent company of Haxtun Telephone
Company. Given that Larry Townes was a director of xG Technology, at the time of the purchase order, the sale of equipment to Haxtun Telephone Company
was, at the time it was entered into, considered to be a related party transaction. Due to Haxtun Telephone Company waiting for the equipment to meet certain
technical specifications, the revenue from this transaction is considered deferred revenue as of December 31, 2014.

Any transactions subsequent to Larry Townes resigning will not be considered related party transactions.

Mooers Branton & Co. Incorporated

On March 2, 2006, the Company entered into a management agreement (the “MBC Management Agreement”) with Mooers Branton & Co. Incorporated
(“MBC”), a Florida corporation, pursuant to which MBC agreed to provide certain management and financial services to the Company for a monthly fee of
$80,000. The MBC Management Agreement was terminated on January 1, 2014. The Company incurred fees related to the MBC Management Agreement of $0
and $720,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. MBC is beneficially controlled and operated by Richard Mooers, a director and
Roger Branton, the Chief Financial Officer, of the Company.

18 — CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject, from time to time, to claims by third parties under various legal theories. The defense of such claims, or any adverse outcome relating
to any such claims, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity, financial condition and cash flows. For the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, the Company did not have any legal actions pending.
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19 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Conversions and Balances of Outstanding Series A Preferred Stock

As of March 27 2015, $750,000 of the Series A Convertible Stock and $52,500 in dividends have been converted into 2,392,465 shares of common stock. As of
March 27, 2015, all outstanding shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have been fully converted.

Short Term Loans

On January 8, 2015, the Company repaid $100,000 of the $245,000 due to related party balance owed to George Schmitt.

On January 29, 2015 and February 13, 2015, the Company received an aggregate of $700,000 from certain family members of George Schmitt, Chairman of the
Board and, effective as of February 17, 2015, Chief Executive Officer. This amount was recorded as a short term loan in due to related parties. On February 23,
2015, George Schmitt transferred the balance of his $145,000 loan to certain family members bringing the total the Company owed to certain family members
to $845,000. The $845,000 loan was settled through the issuance of 845,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, 53,095 shares of common stock and warrants
with respect to 422,500 underlying shares of common stock exercisable for five years at a price of $2.00 per share. 

The Warrants are exercisable immediately for a period of five years from their issue date. The exercise price with respect to the warrants is $2.00 per share. The
exercise price for the warrants is subject to adjustment upon certain events, such as stock splits, combinations, dividends, distributions, reclassifications,
mergers or other corporate change and dilutive issuances. Upon certain fundamental events, the warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at
fair market value estimated using Black Scholes.

$350,000 Purchase Agreement

On February 11, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to 31 Group, 350,000 of the Company’s Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) and warrants to purchase 175,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock for a purchase price of $350,000. The Company also issued 24,619 shares of its common stock in consideration of 31 Group’s execution and delivery of
the purchase agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Shelf
Registration Statement.

The Warrants are exercisable immediately for a period of five years from their issue date. The exercise price with respect to the warrants is $2.00 per share. The
exercise price for the warrants is subject to adjustment upon certain events, such as stock splits, combinations, dividends, distributions, reclassifications,
mergers or other corporate change and dilutive issuances. Upon certain fundamental events, the warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at
fair market value estimated using Black Scholes.

Series B Preferred Stock

The Series B Preferred Stock rank pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon distributions, liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the Company and have the same terms and preferences as the Series A Preferred Stock except for the following:

Conversion Rights of Series B Preferred Stock. A holder of Series B Preferred Stock shall have the right to convert the Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in
part, upon written notice to the Company at a conversion price equal to the lower of (i) $2.00 or (ii) 85% of the lowest volume weighted average price of the
common stock of the Company during the five (5) consecutive trading day period ending and including the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of
the applicable conversion notice (as adjusted for stock splits, share combinations and similar transactions).
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Conversions and Balances of Outstanding Series B Preferred Stock

As of March 27 2015, $945,000 of the Series B Convertible Stock and $66,150 in dividends have been converted into 2,677,010 shares of our common stock.
As of March 27, 2015, $250,000 of the Series B Preferred Stock remains outstanding.

$1,800,000 Purchase Agreement

On February 24, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to institutional investors, 1,800,000 of the
Company’s Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Series C Preferred Stock”) and warrants to purchase 900,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for a purchase price of $1,800,000. The Company also issued 118,631 shares of its common stock in consideration of the investors’
execution and delivery of the purchase agreement (the “Commitment Shares”). The Preferred Stock and the Commitment Shares were issued pursuant to the
Company’s Shelf Registration Statement.

The Warrants are exercisable immediately for a period of five years from their issue date. The exercise price with respect to the warrants is $2.00 per share. The
exercise price for the warrants is subject to adjustment upon certain events, such as stock splits, combinations, dividends, distributions, reclassifications,
mergers or other corporate change and dilutive issuances. Upon certain fundamental events, the warrants could be redeemed by the holders of the warrants at
fair market value estimated using Black Scholes.

Series C Preferred Stock

The Series C Preferred Stock rank pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock and our Series B Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights and/or rights
upon distributions, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company and have the same terms and preferences as the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock
except for the following:

Conversion Rights of Series C Preferred Stock. Upon the occurrence of certain triggering events (including the Preferred Stock or common stock underlying the
Preferred Stock is not freely tradeable without restriction; the failure of the common stock to be listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market or other national
securities exchange; and bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation proceedings instituted against the Company shall not be dismissed in thirty (30)
days or the voluntary commencement of such proceedings by the Company), the holder of Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the Company, by
written notice, to redeem all or any of the shares of Preferred Stock at a price equal to the greater of (i) 125% of the conversion amount to be redeemed and (ii)
the product of (a) the conversion amount divided by the lower of (x) $2.00 or (y) 85% of the lowest volume weighted average price of the common stock of the
Company during the five (5) consecutive trading day period ending and including the trading day immediately preceding the delivery of the applicable
conversion notice multiplied by (b) 125% of the greatest closing sale price of the common stock on any trading day during the period commencing on the date
immediately preceding such triggering event and ending on the date the Company makes the entire redemption payment to the holder of Preferred Stock.
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On each of March 12, 2015, March 24, 2015, April 12, 2015 and April 24, 2015, upon the Company’s failure to met certain conditions (including the
Company’s common stock failing to maintain a minimum trading price and the common stock failing to maintain certain trading volumes) during the period
between the initial issuance date of the Preferred Stock and the relevant determination date, the holders of Preferred Stock shall have the right to require the
Company, by written notice, to redeem in cash up to $300,000 of the Preferred Stock, at a price equal to the sum of (i) the stated value of Preferred Stock to be
redeemed multiplied by 105% (for redemptions occurring within the first thirty days of the initial issuance date) or 110% (for redemptions occurring during the
period between thirty and sixty days of the initial issuance date) plus (ii) all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon until the date of the redemption.

Conversions and Balance of Outstanding Series C Preferred Stock

As of March 27, 2015, $168,224 of the Series C Convertible Stock and $11,776 in dividends have been converted into 684,220 shares of our common stock. As
of March 27, 2015, $1,631,776 of the Series C Preferred Stock remains outstanding.

Delisting Notice

On February 9, 2015, the Company received a written notification (the “Notice”) from the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) indicating that the Company
was not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) relating to the minimum bid requirements as the Company’s closing bid price was below $1.00 per
share for the previous thirty (30) consecutive business days.

Pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has been granted a 180 calendar day compliance period, or until August 10, 2015, to regain
compliance with the minimum bid price requirements. During the compliance period, the Company’s shares of common stock will continue to be listed and
traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market. To regain compliance, the closing bid of the Company’s shares of common stock must meet or exceed $1.00 per share for
at least ten (10) consecutive business days during the 180 calendar day grace period.

If the Company is not in compliance by August 10, 2015, the Company may be afforded a second 180 calendar day grace period. To qualify, the Company
would be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for the Nasdaq Capital
Market, with the exception of the minimum bid price requirements. In addition, the Company would be required to notify Nasdaq of its intent to cure the
minimum bid price deficiency by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary.

If the Company does not regain compliance within the allotted compliance period(s), including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdaq, Nasdaq will
provide notice that the Company’s shares of common stock will be subject to delisting.

The Company intends to monitor its closing bid price for its common stock between now and August 10, 2015, and will consider available options to resolve the
Company’s noncompliance with the minimum bid price requirement, as may be necessary. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to regain
compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or will otherwise be in compliance with other Nasdaq listing criteria.
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Management Transition

Effective January 6, 2015, the board of directors of the Company appointed General James T. Conway as a member of the Board, filling the vacant seat on the
Board.

On February 17, 2015, John Coleman resigned from his position of Chief Executive Officer effective immediately. Mr. Coleman’s resignation was not a result
of any disagreements with the Company. Mr. Coleman will stay on the xG Board and manage the governmental/expeditionary portions of the business.

In connection with this transition, on February 17, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) appointed George Schmitt, the Company’s Executive
Chairman, to the role of Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Schmitt will perform the services and duties that are normally and customarily associated with the Chief
Executive Officer position, as well as other duties as the Board reasonably determines.

Equity Distribution Agreement

On February 24, 2015, the Company delivered notice to Roth Capital Partners, LLC (“Roth”) terminating the Equity Distribution Agreement effective as of
February 23, 2015. The Company previously entered into the Equity Distribution Agreement with Roth on November 19, 2014 and amended on December 30,
2014. The Company also filed a supplement to the Prospectus Supplement terminating the offering with respect to the $1,000,000 of the Company’s common
stock issuable to Roth under the Equity Distribution Agreement. No shares of the Company’s common stock were sold to Roth by the Company during the term
of the Equity Distribution Agreement.

Issuance of common stock to MBTH

On February 24, 2015, the company issued 3,991,131 shares of common stock to MBTH in consideration of converting $1,756,098 owed of the balance due to
related parties at a conversion price of $0.44 per share.

Cost Reduction Initiatives

On February 26, 2015, the Company announced that effective March 1, 2015, it will implement cost reduction initiatives that will include a decrease in the
Company’s current full, part-time and contracted workforce. These initiatives will result in a reduction in monthly operating expenses to approximately
$800,000 – an improvement of over 30 percent.
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4.5 Form of Warrant issued in December 30, 2014 Offering. (9)

4.6 Form of Warrant issued in February 11, 2015 Offering. (10)

4.7 Form of Warrant issued in February 24, 2015 Offering. (11)

10.1 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (6)

10.2 Forms of Agreement Under 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (6)

10.3 Loan Documents Between xG Technology and MB Technology Holdings, LLC (6)

10.4 Form of Securities Subscription Agreement (6)

10.5 Form of Bridge Loan Documents (6)

10.6 2004 Option Plan (6)

10.7 2005 Option Plan (6)

10.8 2006 Option Plan (6)

10.9 2007 Option Plan (6)

10.10 2009 Option Plan (6)

10.11 Forms of Award Documents under 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2009 Option Plans (6)

10.12 Sunrise Office Lease (6)

10.13 Treco Documents (6)

10.14 Mats Wennberg Consulting Agreement (6)

10.15 Mats Wennberg Warrant Agreement (6)

10.16 MBC Agreement (6)

10.17 Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 22, 2014, by and between the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC. 
(7)

10.18 Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2014, by and between the Company and Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC. 
(7)

10.19 Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2014, by and between the Company, Lincoln Park and other investors (8)

10.20 Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2014, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (9)

10.21 Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2015, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (10)

10.22 Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2014, by and between the Company and 31 Group, LLC. (11)
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In accordance with SEC Release 33-8238, Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are being furnished and not filed.

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit
14.1 Code of Ethics (12)

23.1 Consent of Friedman LLP
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase

(1) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1 with the SEC on October 23, 2013.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on June 13, 2014.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit on Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC on August 30, 2013.
(3) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1/A with the SEC on May 21, 2013.
(4) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report to Form 8-K with the SEC on August 19, 2013.
(5) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1/A with the SEC on November 6, 2013.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit on Form S-1 with the SEC on March 7, 2013.
(7) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on September 24, 2014.
(8) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on November 26, 2014.
(9) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on December 31, 2014.
(10) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on February 12, 2015.
(11) Filed as an Exhibit on Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC on February 26, 2015.
(12) Filed as an Exhibit on Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC on March 6, 2014.
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-193579) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-197820) of xG
Technology Inc. of our report dated March 31, 2015 relating to the financial statements, which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ Friedman LLP

March 31, 2015
East Hanover, New Jersey



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, George Schmitt, certify that:

Date: March 31, 2015

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of xG Technology, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ George Schmitt
George Schmitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Roger G. Branton, certify that:

Date: March 31, 2015

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of xG Technology, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Roger G. Branton
Roger G. Branton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of xG Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, George Schmitt, Chief Executive Officer of xG Technology, Inc., certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

Date: March 31, 2015

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ George Schmitt
George Schmitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION
OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of xG Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Roger G. Branton, Chief Financial Officer of xG Technology, Inc., certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

Date: March 31, 2015

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Roger G. Branton
Roger G. Branton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


